

REPORT

GEOTECHNICAL AND HYDROGEOLOGICAL INVESTIGATION

1047 RICHMOND ROAD, OTTAWA, ONTARIO

Submitted to:

1047 Richmond Nominee Inc.

2275 Upper Middle Road East Suite 700, Oakville Ontario L6H 0C3

Submitted by:

Golder Associates Ltd.

1931 Robertson Road Ottawa, Ontario K2H 5B7

+1 613 592 9600

21494078_Rev2

June 27, 2023

Distribution List

1 e-copy - 1047 Richmond Nominee Inc.

1 e-copy - Golder



Table of Contents

1.0	INTRODUCTION1				
2.0	DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT AND SITE1				
3.0	PROC	EDURE	1		
4.0	SUBS	URFACE CONDITIONS	2		
	4.1	General	2		
	4.2	Pavement Structure	3		
	4.3	Fill	3		
	4.4	Glacial Till	3		
	4.5	Bedrock	3		
	4.6	Groundwater Conditions	4		
	4.7	Corrosion Testing	6		
5.0	DESIG	IN AND CONSTRUCTION CONSIDERATIONS	6		
	5.1	General	6		
	5.2	Seismic Considerations	6		
	5.2.1	Seismic Zone	6		
	5.2.2	Site Class	6		
	5.3	Frost Protection	7		
	5.4	Foundations	7		
	5.4.1	Bearing Resistance	7		
	5.4.2	Resistance to Lateral Loads	8		
	5.5	Rock Anchors	8		
	5.6	Lateral Earth Pressure1	0		
	5.6.1	Underground Parking – Within Overburden1	0		
	5.6.1.1	Static Lateral Earth Pressures1	1		
	5.6.1.2	Seismic Lateral Earth Pressures1	2		
	5.6.2	Underground Parking – Within Bedrock1	3		
	5.7	Excavation1	4		

7.0	CLOSURE2				
6.0	ADDIT	IONAL CONSIDERATIONS	.23		
	5.19	Corrosion and Cement Type	.22		
	5.18	Trees	.22		
	5.17	Material Reuse	.22		
	5.16	Site Grading	.22		
	5.15.5	Joints, Tie-ins with Existing Pavements, Pavement Resurfacing	.22		
	5.15.4	Pavement Structure Compaction	.21		
	5.15.3	Pavement Design	.20		
	5.15.2	Granular Pavement Materials	.20		
	5.15.1	Pavement Drainage	.20		
	5.15	Pavement Design	.20		
	5.14.2	Trench Backfill	.19		
	5.14.1	Pipe Bedding and Cover	.19		
	5.14	Site Servicing	.19		
	5.13	Vibration Monitoring	.18		
	5.12	Ground Movements	.18		
	5.11	Foundation Wall Backfill and Drainage	.17		
	5.10	Floor Slab	.17		
	5.9	Temporary Shoring	.16		
	5.8.1.2	Permanent Condition	.16		
	5.8.1.1	Construction Condition	.15		
	5.8.1	Estimates of Groundwater Taking and Radius of Influence	.15		
	5.8	Groundwater Management	.15		
	5.7.2	Excavation in Bedrock	.14		
	5.7.1	Excavation in Overburden	.14		

IMPORTANT INFORMATION AND LIMITATIONS OF THIS REPORT

FIGURES

Figure 1 – Site Plan

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A Borehole Records – Current Investigation

APPENDIX B Laboratory Test Results

APPENDIX C Rock Core Photographs

APPENDIX D Results of Basic Chemical Analyses

APPENDIX E Results of Geophysical Testing

APPENDIX F

Results of In-situ Hydraulic Conductivity Testing



1.0 INTRODUCTION

This report presents the results of geotechnical and hydrogeological investigation carried out at the site of a proposed residential development located at 1047 Richmond Road in Ottawa, Ontario.

The purpose of this investigation was to assess the general subsurface conditions at the site by means of a limited number of boreholes. Based on an interpretation of the factual information obtained, a general description of the soil, bedrock, and groundwater conditions is presented. These interpreted subsurface conditions and available project details were used to provide engineering guidelines on the geotechnical design aspects of the project, including construction considerations which could influence design decisions.

The reader is referred to the "*Important Information and Limitations of This Report*" which follows the text but forms an integral part of this document.

2.0 DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT AND SITE

The site of the proposed development is located at 1047 Richmond Road in Ottawa, Ontario. The site is about 2.5 acres and is currently occupied by a single-story commercial building (a car dealership) which consists of a building located in approximately the middle of the site, surrounded by parking areas.

The site is bordered to the east by a residential tower, to the south by Richmond Road, to the west by New Orchard Avenue and the north by a low-rise residential building. The project limits and the location of the proposed development are shown on Figure 1.

Based on the updated design scheme provided to Golder, the site will be developed into three residential buildings including two 38 and 40 storey towers with 6 storey podiums (Towers A and B), and a smaller 6 storey building (Tower C). The proposed development also includes a new park, an outdoor amenity and various access roadways and parking areas. The development includes three levels of underground parking which will encompass the entire development site excluding the future park in the southwest corner.

3.0 PROCEDURE

The field work for the current geotechnical investigation was carried out between September 21 and 30, 2021, in conjunction with the Phase 2 Environmental Site Assessment (ESA). During that time, ten boreholes (numbered 21-01 to 21-10) were advanced at the approximate locations shown on Figure 1.

The boreholes were advanced with a track-mounted hollow stem auger drill rig supplied and operated by CCC Geotechnical and Environmental Drilling of Ottawa, Ontario. The boreholes were advanced to depths ranging from 7.6 m to 15.5 m below the existing ground surface. Refusal to augering was encountered at all of the boreholes at depths ranging from 1.6 to 4.8 m below the existing ground surface.

Upon encountering refusal to augering, boreholes 21-01 to 21-05 were further advanced to a depth of about 7.6 m into the bedrock using pneumatic hammer rock drilling. No rock cores were recovered from these boreholes. Boreholes 21-06 to 21-10 were further advanced for 7.5 and 13.9 m into the bedrock using rotary diamond drilling techniques while retrieving HQ sized core.

Standard Penetration Tests (SPTs) were carried out within the overburden at various intervals of depth in general conformance with ASTM D 1586. Soil samples were recovered using 35 mm inside diameter split-spoon sampling equipment.

Monitoring wells were sealed in all the boreholes (with the exception of 21-08) to allow for subsequent measurements of stabilized groundwater levels as well as to perform in-situ hydraulic conductivity testing. The monitoring wells consist of 51 mm inside diameter rigid PVC pipe with 3.0 m long slotted screen sections, installed within silica sand backfill and sealed by a section of bentonite pellet backfill. Measurement of the groundwater levels was completed on October 05, 2021.

At borehole 21-08, a 63.5 mm inside diameter rigid PVC casing was grouted over the full depth of the borehole to allow for Vertical Seismic Profile (VSP) testing to determine the shear wave velocity profile of the soil and rock.

The fieldwork was supervised by Golder staff who logged the boreholes, directed the in-situ testing, and collected the soil and rock samples retrieved in the boreholes. The samples obtained during the fieldwork were brought to our laboratory for further examination and laboratory testing.

The laboratory testing included determination of natural water content, grain size distribution on selected soil samples, and Uniaxial Compressive Strength (UCS) testing on selected bedrock samples.

Two samples of soil from boreholes 21-06 and 21-10 were submitted to Eurofins Environment Testing for basic chemical analysis related to potential sulphate attack on buried concrete elements and corrosion of buried ferrous elements.

The borehole locations were marked in the field and surveyed by Golder. The positions and ground surface elevations at the borehole locations were determined using a Trimble R8 GPS survey unit. The Geodetic reference system used for the survey is the North American Datum of 1983 (NAD83). The borehole coordinates are based on the Universal Transverse Mercator (UTM Zone 09) coordinate system. The elevations are referenced to Geodetic datum (CGVD28).

4.0 SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS

4.1 General

The following information on the subsurface conditions is provided in this report:

- Borehole records are provided in Appendix A
- Laboratory test results are provided in Appendix B, and on the relevant borehole records
- Rock core photographs are provided in Appendix C
- Results of the basic chemical analyses are provided in Appendix D
- Results of geophysical testing are provided in Appendix E
- Results of in-situ hydraulic conductivity testing are provided in Appendix F

In general, the subsurface conditions at this site consist of fill, or fill underlain by a deposit of glacial till which is in turn underlain by dolostone bedrock with shale, limestone, and sandstone interbeds.

The following sections present a more detailed overview of the subsurface conditions encountered during the field investigation.



4.2 Pavement Structure

Pavement structure was encountered in all of the boreholes. The pavement structure consists of 50 to 100 mm of asphaltic concrete overlying 110 to 540 mm thick granular base and subbase layers.

4.3 Fill

Fill was encountered below the pavement structure at all of the borehole locations. The fill consists of sand, silty sand to gravelly silty sand. The fill extends to depths ranging between 0.9 and 2.4 m below the existing ground surface at the borehole locations.

The results of SPT tests carried out within the fill gave 'N' values ranging from 1 to 35 blows per 0.3 m of penetration, indicating a very loose to dense (but typically compact) state of packing.

The measured natural water content of two samples of fill were about 10%.

The result of grain size distribution testing carried out on two sample of the fill is provided on Figures B-1 and B-2 in Appendix B.

4.4 Glacial Till

A discontinuous deposit of glacial till exists below the fill, and was encountered in the boreholes 21-04, 21-05, 21-08, and 21-10. The glacial till generally consists of a heterogeneous mixture of gravel, cobbles, and boulders in a matrix of silty sand. The glacial till deposit (where encountered) was fully penetrated to depths ranging from 3.1 to 4.8 m below the existing surface.

The results of standard penetration tests carried out within the glacial till gave SPT 'N' values ranging from 46 to greater than 50 blows per 0.3 m of penetration, indicating a dense to very dense state of packing. High SPT 'N' values can also be indicative of cobbles and boulders and not the density of the soil matrix.

The measured natural water content of eight samples of glacial till ranged from 7 to 14%.

The result of grain size distribution testing carried out on one sample of the glacial till is provided on Figure B-3 in Appendix B.

4.5 Bedrock

Refusal to augering was encountered in all of the boreholes at depths ranging from 1.6 to 4.8 m below the existing ground surface. The bedrock was cored in boreholes 21-06 to 21-10 to depths ranging between 9.4 and 15.5 m below the existing ground surface.

In boreholes 21-02, 21-03 and 21-06 to 21-09, a zone of weathered/disturbed bedrock (which could be penetrated by augering and SPT sampling) was encountered at depths ranging from 0.9 to 3.1 m. The thickness of this zone was about 0.5 to 1.7 m at these borehole locations.



Borehole Number	Ground Surface Elevation (m)	Bedrock Depth (m)	Core Length (m)	Bedrock Surface Elevation (m)
21-01	65.7	1.8	N/A ¹	63.9
21-02	65.5	3.1	N/A ¹	62.4
21-03	65.2	3.1	N/A ¹	62.1
21-04	65.1	3.7	N/A ¹	61.4
21-05	65.5	3.7	N/A ¹	61.8
21-06	65.0	1.9	7.5	63.1
21-07	66.1	1.6	8.1	64.4
21-08	64.6	3.2	12.3	61.4
21-09	65.9	1.7	13.8	64.2
21-10	65.9	4.8	10.7	61.1

The following table summarizes the ground surface elevations, depth to bedrock, bedrock surface elevations and core lengths at the borehole locations:

Note: ¹ No bedrock core recovery due to pneumatic hammer rock drilling

The bedrock encountered in the cored boreholes typically consists of medium grey dolostone with shale, limestone, and sandstone interbeds to a depth ranging from 9.1 to 13.2 m below the existing ground surface.

In boreholes 21-08 to 21-10, light grey sandstone with thin partings of shale was encountered below the dolostone layer at depths of 9.1 and 13.2 m below the existing ground surface, respectively.

Rock Quality Designation (RQD) values for dolostone and sandstone bedrock measured in the boreholes range from about 0 to 100% but are more typically in the range of 75 to 100% indicating good to excellent quality rock. In general, the RQD values increase with depth.

Nine UCS tests were carried out on core specimens of the bedrock, and measured UCS values range from 86 to 144 MPa, indicating strong rock. The results of the UCS tests are included in Appendix B. The UCS values are also presented in Figures B-4 and B-5 in Appendix B.

Photographs of the recovered bedrock core are presented in Appendix C.

4.6 Groundwater Conditions

In-situ hydraulic conductivity testing was carried out in monitoring wells installed in Boreholes 21-01 through 21-07, 21-09 and 21-10. An insufficient amount of water was present at monitoring wells 21-01, 21-07 and 21-09 to allow for testing to occur. The testing method at monitoring well 21-06 involved the rapid removal of water from the well using a dedicated foot valve and tubing, and measurement of the recovery of the water level over time. At monitoring wells 21-02, 21-03, 21-04, 21-05 and 21-10, a solid cylindrical slug was lowered quickly into the well and the change of the water level over time was recorded.



The data collected during the falling-head tests on monitoring wells 21-02, 21-03, 21-04, 21-05 and 21-10 were analyzed using the Hvorslev method (Hvorslev, 1951) to provide an estimate of the horizontal hydraulic conductivity of the bedrock adjacent to the test intervals. During the rising head test on monitoring well 21-06, the groundwater level was drawn down into the monitoring well screen; therefore, these data were analysed using the Bouwer and Rice (1976)¹. The relevant calculations are included in Appendix F.

				Groundwat	er Level		
Borehole	Geologic Unit of Screened Interval	Depth of Screened Interval (m)	Ground Surface Elevation (m)	Depth below ground surface* (m)	Elevation (m)	Date of Measurement	Hydraulic Conductivity (cm/s)
21-01	Dolostone	4.57 - 7.62	65.73	7.60	58.13	Oct. 5, 2021	Insufficient water for testing
21-02	Dolostone	3.96 - 7.01	65.46	3.32	62.14	Oct. 5, 2021	2x10 ^{-3*}
21-03	Dolostone	4.57 - 7.62	65.24	3.22	62.02	Oct. 5, 2021	1x10 ^{-4*}
21-04	Dolostone	4.57 - 7.62	65.09	2.70	62.39	Oct. 5, 2021	4x10 ^{-4*}
21-05	Dolostone	4.57 - 7.62	65.47	3.94	61.53	Oct. 5, 2021	2x10 ^{-4*}
21-06	Dolostone	6.33 - 9.38	65.00	6.84	58.16	Oct. 5, 2021	1x10 ^{-6**}
21-07	Dolostone	6.68 - 9.73	66.07	9.34	56.73	Oct. 5, 2021	Insufficient water for testing
21-09	Dolostone	6.63 - 9.68	65.90	Dry	Dry	Oct. 5, 2021	Not tested
21-10	Sandstone	12.40 - 15.45	65.89	8.85	57.04	Oct. 5, 2021	1x10 ^{-3*}

Summary of In-situ Hydraulic Conductivity Testing Results

Notes: *analysed using Hvorslev (1951) method

**analysed using Bouwer and Rice (1976) method

The groundwater level measurement results indicate that the groundwater level in the bedrock ranged from 2.7 m to 9.3 m below the existing ground surface. The results of the rising head test analyses indicate that the hydraulic conductivity (K) of the bedrock at the borehole locations ranged from about 1×10^{-6} to 2×10^{-3} cm/s.

It is expected that the groundwater levels will be subject to fluctuations both seasonally and as a result of precipitation events. Groundwater levels may also be currently influenced by the excavations currently taking place on the south side of Richmond Road and may change as construction in that area is completed.

¹ Bouwer, H. and R.C. Rice, 1976. A slug test method for determining hydraulic conductivity of unconfined aquifers with completely or partially penetrating wells, Water Resources Research, vol. 12, no. 3, pp.423-428.



4.7 Corrosion Testing

Two samples of soil from boreholes 21-06 and 21-10 were submitted to Eurofins Environment Testing for basic chemical analysis related to potential sulphate attack on buried concrete elements and corrosion of buried ferrous elements. The results of this testing are provided in Appendix D and are summarized below:

Borehole Number	Sample Number	Depth Intervals (m)	Chlorides (%)	Sulphates (%)	рН	Resistivity (Ohm-cm)
21-06	2	1.5 – 1.9	0.007	<0.01	8.9	4,350
21-10	3	2.3 – 2.7	<0.002	0.01	8.4	6,670

5.0 DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION CONSIDERATIONS

5.1 General

This section of the report provides engineering guidelines on the geotechnical design aspects of the project based on our interpretation of the available information described herein and project requirements. The information in this portion of the report is provided for planning and design purposes for the guidance of the design engineers and architects. Where comments are made on construction, they are provided only to highlight aspects of construction which could affect the design of the project. Contractors bidding on or undertaking the works should examine the factual results of the investigation, satisfy themselves as to the adequacy of the factual information for construction, and make their own interpretation of the factual data as it affects their proposed construction techniques, schedule, safety, and equipment capabilities, costs, sequencing and the like.

The reader is referred to the "*Important Information and Limitations of This Report*" which follows the text of this report but forms an integral part of this document.

5.2 Seismic Considerations

5.2.1 Seismic Zone

The site falls within the Western Québec Seismic Zone (WQSZ) according to the Geological Survey of Canada. The WQSZ constitutes a large area that extends from Montréal to Témiscaming, and which encompasses the Ottawa area. Within the WQSZ recent seismic activity has been concentrated in two subzones; one along the Ottawa River and another more active subzone along the Montréal-Maniwaki axis. Historical seismicity within the WQSZ includes the 1935 Témiscaming event which had a magnitude (i.e., a measure of the intensity of the earthquake) of 6.2 and the 1944 Cornwall-Massena event which had a magnitude of 5.6. In comparison to other seismically active areas in the world (e.g., California, Japan, New Zealand), the frequency of earthquake activity within the WQSZ is significantly lower but there still exists the potential for significant earthquake events to be generated.

5.2.2 Site Class

Vertical Seismic Profiling (VSP) geophysical testing was carried out within borehole 21-08 to evaluate the average shear wave velocity of the upper 30 m of soil/bedrock at the site (see Figure 1 for the VSP testing location). The results of the shear wave velocity test are included in Appendix E.



The VSP test results indicate that the average shear wave velocity in the upper 30 m from the bedrock surface (V_{s30}) was about 1,700 m/s. Based on this value, it is considered that a Site Class "A" designation is appropriate for the site for all structures founded on rock.

5.3 Frost Protection

The presence of frost-susceptible soils within the frost penetration depth will require that isolated, unheated exterior footings adjacent to surfaces which are cleared of snow cover during winter months be provided with a minimum of 1.8 m of earth cover (or equivalent insulation). Exterior foundations of heated structures should be provided with a minimum of 1.5 m of earth cover (or equivalent insulation).

If sufficient earth cover cannot be provided, foundation insulation details can be provided during detailed design.

The foundations of the proposed residential towers and podiums with three underground parking levels are expected to be placed on or within the bedrock at depth, which is unlikely to be highly frost susceptible and will be below the depth of frost. As such, frost protection is not required for the footings founded on bedrock at depth.

5.4 Foundations

Based on our understanding of the proposed development (in particular the three levels of underground parking which cover the entire footprint of the buildings) it is assumed that the foundations for the high-rise towers as well as the mid-rise podiums would likely consist of spread footings placed on the relatively shallow bedrock.

5.4.1 Bearing Resistance

In general, subsurface conditions encountered during the investigation consist of fill, or fill underlain by glacial till over dolostone/sandstone bedrock. It is considered that the proposed residential towers and podiums can be supported on spread footings placed on or within the competent bedrock.

The factored bearing resistance at Ultimate Limit States (ULS) for spread footing foundations founded on bedrock may be taken as 4,800 kPa for all areas where the foundations are three stories below the existing grade (which includes all of the currently proposed buildings).

These values are applicable provided that the bedrock surface is acceptably cleaned of soil and loose bedrock (i.e., any bedrock that can be easily removed with a hydraulic excavator). The settlement of footings at the corresponding service (unfactored) load levels will be less than 25 mm. Serviceability Limit States (SLS) conditions generally do not govern foundation design in rock.

Should there be localized locations within the excavation where the bedrock surface, following excavation and removal of any weathered rock, is below the planned founding level, then the footing level may be lowered such that the footing will bear directly on the unweathered bedrock. Alternatively, the subgrade could be raised to the underside of the foundation using mass concrete.

The bedrock surfaces should be inspected by qualified geotechnical personnel to confirm that the expected bearing material has been exposed and that the bearing surface has been adequately prepared and cleaned.



5.4.2 Resistance to Lateral Loads

Resistance to lateral forces / sliding resistance between the concrete footings and the clean surface of sound bedrock could be considered. For cast-in-place concrete footings bearing directly onto the bedrock surface, the coefficient of friction, tan ϕ ', may be taken as follows:

Cast-in-place concrete footing to clean sound bedrock: tan φ' = 0.70

The sliding resistance value is unfactored, and a resistance factor of 0.8 would need to be applied to the sliding resistance in accordance with limit states design.

The resistance to lateral loads could be increased by constructing a shear-key at the bottom of the footings if needed. The design of shear keys would require a specific analysis taking into consideration the magnitude of the horizontal loading, the magnitude of the vertical loading, and any variations in the bearing pressure due to overturning moments.

5.5 Rock Anchors

Rock anchors could potentially be used to resist uplift and/or overturning of the foundation. Rock anchors should consist of grouted anchors installed into the bedrock at depth.

Rock anchors are typically installed in a borehole that is drilled with air-percussion equipment or with rotary diamond drilling equipment with water circulation; those drilling methods can fairly penetrate through boulder/cobblery ground such as exists on this site. A cased hole would be drilled through the overburden (if present) with a socket drilled into the bedrock, the steel anchor inserted, and then the annular space around the bar filled with grout.

Because the rock anchors would be permanent elements of the foundations, a "double corrosion protection" system should be provided.

In designing grouted rock anchors, consideration should be given to four possible anchor failure modes.

- i) failure of the steel tendon or top anchorage
- ii) failure of the grout/tendon bond
- iii) failure of the rock/grout bond
- iv) failure within the rock mass, or rock cone pull-out

Potential failure modes i) and ii) are structural and are best addressed by the structural engineer. Adequate corrosion protection of the steel components should be provided to prevent potential premature failure due to steel corrosion.

For potential failure mode iii), the factored bond stress at the concrete/rock interface may be taken as *1,000 kPa* for ULS design purposes. This value should be used in calculating the resistance under ULS conditions. If the response of the anchor under SLS conditions needs to be evaluated, for a preliminary assessment it may be taken as the elastic elongation of the unbonded portion of the anchor under the design loading.



For potential failure mode iv), the preliminary resistance is calculated based on the unit weight (undrained) of the potential mass of rock and soil which could be mobilized by the anchor, and resistance to shear of the rock mass. This is typically considered as the mass of rock included within a cone (or wedge for a line of closely spaced anchors) having an apex at the tip of the anchor and having an apex angle of 60 degrees. For each individual anchor, the ULS factored geotechnical resistance can be calculated based on the following equation:

$$Q_r = \varphi \frac{\pi}{3} \gamma' D^3 \tan^2(\theta)$$

Where:

Qr	=	Factored uplift resistance of the anchor (kN)
φ	=	Resistance factor (use 0.4)
γ'	=	Effective unit weight of rock (use 16 kN/m ³ below the groundwater level)
D	=	Anchor length in metres
θ	=	One-half of the apex angle of the rock failure cone (use 30°)

Where the anchor load is applied at an angle to the vertical, the anchor capacity should be reduced as follows:

$$Q_r' = Q_r \cos(\alpha)$$

Where:

Qr' = Factored uplift resistance of the anchor subject to inclined load (kN)

Qr = Factored uplift resistance of the anchor (kN)

 α = Angle between the load direction and the vertical

For a group of anchors or for a line of closely spaced anchors, the resistance must consider the potential overlap between the rock masses mobilized by individual anchors. In the case of group effects for a series of rock anchors in a rectangle with width "a" and length "b" installed to a depth "D", the equation for the volume of the truncated trapezoid failure zone would be as follows:

$$V = \frac{4}{3} D^3 \sin^2 \Theta + aD^2 \sin \Theta + bD^2 \sin \Theta + abD$$

Where:

V = Volume of the truncated trapezoid failure zone (m3)

D = Depth of anchor group (m)

a = Width of anchor group (m)

- *b* = Length of the anchor group (m)
- θ = One-half of the apex angle of the rock failure cone, use 30°



The ULS factored geotechnical resistance for the truncated trapezoid failure formed by the group of anchors can then be calculated based on the following equation:

$$Q_r = \varphi \gamma' V$$

Where:

Qr=Factored uplift resistance of the anchor (kN) φ =Resistance factor, use 0.4 γ' =Effective unit weight of rock, use 16 kN/m³V=Volume of truncated trapezoid (m³)

The method described above does not explicitly consider the tensile strength of the rock that must be overcome prior to mobilization of the weight of the rock mass. If required, the tensile strength of the rock mass can be assessed based on the unconfined compressive strength, recovery, and quality of bedrock core obtained. This assessment, however, requires a detailed understanding of the anchor lengths, geometry, loads, etc. and would need to be completed during detailed design.

It is recommended that proof load tests be carried out on the anchors to confirm their resistance. The proof load tests should be carried out in accordance with OPSS 942 (*Prestressed Soil and Rock Anchors*).

A geotechnical professional should be present during the installation and testing of the anchors. Care must be taken during grouting to ensure that the grouting pressure is sufficient to bond the entire length of the grouted area with minimum voids. Confirmation of sufficient embedment into the rock beneath the foundations should be carried out to make sure that the anchors are being installed in rock of adequate quality. The anchor holes must be thoroughly flushed with water to remove all debris and rock flour. It is essential that rock flour be completely removed from the holes to be grouted to promote an adequate bond between the grout and the rock. Prestressing of the anchors prior to loading will minimize anchor movement due to service loads.

5.6 Lateral Earth Pressure

Lateral earth pressures acting on the foundation walls of the underground parking are provided in the following sections for the portion of the underground parking within the overburden (or approximate elevations of between 65.5 and 62.5 m) and portion of the underground parking below and within the bedrock (or approximate elevations of between 62.5 and 56.5 m).

The following sections can also be used to estimate the lateral earth pressures on a temporary shoring system that might be required during the excavations.

5.6.1 Underground Parking – Within Overburden

Lateral earth pressures acting on the foundation walls (or temporary retaining system) above bedrock (i.e., within the overburden) will depend on the type and method of placement of the backfill materials, on the nature of the soils behind the backfill, on the magnitude of surcharge including construction loadings, on the freedom of lateral movement of the structure, and on the drainage conditions behind the walls. Seismic (earthquake) loading may also need to be considered in the design.

5.6.1.1 Static Lateral Earth Pressures

It is assumed that the foundation walls will be non-yielding, and therefore at-rest conditions will apply for those walls. It is assumed that the foundation walls will be drained but if the structures will not be drained, the earth pressure equation below the groundwater level should be used for the depth of the soil below groundwater level. The groundwater level was measured to be between 2.7 and 9.3 m depth at this site.

As a first, but likely conservative approximation, the static lateral earth pressure can be calculated as:

 $\sigma_h(z) = K (\gamma \cdot z + q)$ (Above the groundwater level)

$$\sigma_{h(z)} = K [\gamma d_w + (\gamma - \gamma_w)(z - d_w) + q] + (z - d_w) \gamma_w$$
 (Below the groundwater level)

Where:

$\sigma_{\text{h(z)}}$	=	Lateral earth pressure on the wall at depth z (kPa)
K	=	Earth pressure coefficient, K_{\circ} for restrained structures or K_{a} for unrestrained structures
γ	=	Unit weight of retained soil (see table below)
γ _w	=	Unit weight of water (use 9.81 kN/m³)
z	=	Depth below the top of wall (m)
d_w	=	Depth to groundwater level (see discussion above)
q	=	Uniform surcharge at ground surface behind the wall to account for traffic, equipment, or
		stockpiled soil (use 12 kPa)

The pressures are based on the existing fill and native materials behind the wall and the following parameters (unfactored) should be used to estimate the lateral earth pressures:

Material	Existing Fill	Glacial Till	Granular A / Granular B Type II	Clear Stone
Soil Unit Weight:	20 kN/m ³	21.5 kN/m ³	22 kN/m ³	18 kN/m³
Internal Angle of Friction	Ø = 28°	Ø = 31°	Ø = 35°	Ø = 32 °
Coefficients of static lateral earth pressure:				
Active, K₄ At rest, K₀ Passive, K₽	0.36 0.53 2.77	0.32 0.48 3.12	0.27 0.43 3.70	0.31 0.47 3.25

The above lateral earth pressures have not been factored; factoring of these loads will be required if the foundation wall is being designed in accordance with Limit States Design.

Where the permanent structure is significantly smaller than the excavation and a wide backfilled gallery exists between the structure wall and an adjacent rigid shoring system, then the permanent structure walls should be designed to retain the granular backfill soils using the above formulas, and an at rest earth pressure coefficient given above.

A minimum compaction surcharge of 12 kPa should be included in the lateral earth pressures for the structural design of the structure. Care must be taken during the compaction operation not to overstress the structure. Heavy construction equipment should be maintained at a distance of at least 1 m away from the structure while the backfill soils are being placed and the backfill should be uniformly raised around the structure. Hand operated compaction equipment should be used to compact the backfill soils within a 1 m wide zone adjacent to the walls. Other surcharge loadings should be accounted for in the design, as required.

5.6.1.2 Seismic Lateral Earth Pressures

Seismic loading will result in increased lateral earth pressures acting on the retaining and foundation walls. The walls should be designed to withstand the combined lateral loading for the appropriate static pressure conditions given above, plus the earthquake induced dynamic earth pressure. The earthquake-induced dynamic pressure distribution is a linear distribution with maximum pressure at the top of the wall and minimum pressure at its toe (i.e., an inverted triangular pressure distribution).

If the foundation walls are backfilled with granular free draining fill either in a zone with width equal to at least half of the height of the wall or within the wedge-shaped zone defined by a line drawn at 1 horizontal to 1 vertical (1H:1V) extending up and back from the rear face of foundation wall, the following parameters (unfactored) provided in the table below may be used.

 $\sigma_{\rm h}(z) = K \gamma z + (K_{\rm AE} - K_{\rm a}) \gamma (H-z)$

The total pressure distribution (static plus seismic) may be determined as follows:

Where:		
O h(z)	=	Static plus seismic lateral earth pressure at depth z, (kPa)
Ka	=	Static active earth pressure coefficient, (see table above)
Ko	=	Static at-rest earth pressure coefficient, (see table above)
K	=	Earth pressure coefficient, K_0 for restrained structures or K_a for unrestrained
		structures
Н	=	Total depth to the bottom of the foundation wall (m)
KAE	=	Seismic active earth pressure coefficient (see table below)
γ	=	Unit weight of the backfill soil (kN/m ³) (see table above)
z	=	Depth below the top of the wall (m)

Seismic (earthquake) loading must be taken into account in the assessment of lateral earth pressures:

- The horizontal seismic coefficient (k_h) used in the calculation of the seismic active pressure coefficient is taken as 1.0 times the PGA. For structures which allow lateral yielding, (k_h) is taken as 0.5 times the PGA.
- The following seismic active pressure coefficients (KAE) are for the fill, glacial till and granular backfills:

Seismic Active Pressure	Coefficients, K _{AE}
-------------------------	-------------------------------

Wall Behavior	Site PGA (2475-year Earthquake)	Existing Fill	Glacial Till	Granular A / Granular B Type II	Clear Stone
Yielding wall	0.244 a	0.44	0.40	0.34	0.38
Non-yielding wall	0.244 g	0.55	0.50	0.43	0.48



The above K_{AE} values for yielding walls are applicable provided that the wall can move up to 250A mm, where A is the design zonal acceleration ratio of (0.244 g). This corresponds to displacements of up to approximately 40 mm at this site.

It should be noted that the above seismic earth pressure coefficients assume that the back of the wall is vertical and that the ground surface behind the wall is flat. Where sloping backfill is present above the top of the wall, the lateral earth pressures under seismic loading conditions should be calculated by treating the weight of the backfill located above the top of the wall as a surcharge.

5.6.2 Underground Parking – Within Bedrock

It is considered that three design conditions could exist with regards to the lateral earth pressures that will be exerted on the foundation walls founded within the bedrock:

- Case 1: Walls cast directly against the bedrock face
- Case 2: Walls cast against formwork with a narrow-backfilled gallery provided between the foundation wall and the adjacent excavation bedrock face
- Case 3: Walls cast against formwork with a wide backfilled gallery provided between the foundation wall and the adjacent excavation face

Case 1

For the first case (wall cast against the bedrock), there will be no effective lateral earth pressures on the foundation wall. This assumes that any loose blocks or wedges of rock are removed from the face of the excavation or are stabilized prior to constructing the wall, and that any rock stabilization is designed for permanent use (i.e., with appropriate corrosion protection).

Case 2

For the second case, the magnitude of the lateral earth pressure depends on the magnitude of the arching which can develop in the backfill and therefore depends on the width of the backfill, its angle of internal friction, as well as the interface friction angles between the backfill and both the rock face and the foundation wall. The magnitude of the lateral earth pressure can be calculated as:

$$\sigma_h(z) = \frac{\gamma B}{2\tan\delta} \left(1 - e^{-2K\frac{z}{B}\tan\delta} \right) + Kq$$

Where:

O h(z)	=	Lateral earth pressure on the foundation wall at depth z (kPa)
К	=	Earth pressure coefficient (use 0.6)
γ	=	Unit weight of retained soil (use 20 kN/m ³ for clear stone)
В	=	Width of backfill between foundation wall and bedrock face (m)
δ	=	Average interface friction angle at backfill-foundation wall and backfill-rock face interfaces (use 15 degrees)
z	=	Depth below top of formwork (m)
q	=	Surcharge at ground surface to account for traffic, equipment, or stock piled materials (use 12 kPa)

Case 3

For the third case, when the width of the backfill is equal to half the wall height or more (i.e., wide backfill), the foundation walls should be designed to resist lateral earth pressures calculated as outlined in Section 5.6.1.

The following should be considered in estimating the lateral earth pressure:

- Hydrostatic groundwater pressures would also need to be considered if the structure is designed to be water-tight.
- It has been assumed that the underground parking level will be maintained at minimum temperatures but will not be permitted to freeze. If these areas are to be unheated, additional guidelines for the design of the foundation wall will be required.

5.7 Excavation

Excavations for the underground parking and foundations will be made through the overburden and underlying dolostone and sandstone bedrock. It is expected that the excavation will extend up to approximately 9 or 10 m below the existing ground surface (to accommodate the three-storeys of underground parking).

5.7.1 Excavation in Overburden

No unusual problems are anticipated with excavating the overburden materials using large hydraulic excavating equipment.

In accordance with the Occupational Health and Safety Act (OHSA) of Ontario, the overburden materials above the groundwater table (i.e., fill and glacial till) would generally be classified as a Type 3 soil and therefore, the side slopes should be stable in the short term at 1 horizontal to 1 vertical. Below the water table, side slopes of 3 horizontal to 1 vertical (Type 4 soil in accordance with the OHSA) will be required.

Where site conditions (such as proximity of existing structures and utilities, or space restrictions) do not allow for the above noted side slopes then suitable safety and support measures must be undertaken according to the requirements of the OSHA. These measures include installation of a suitable shoring system to create and maintain positive support to the sidewalls of the excavation.

Guidelines on excavation shoring are provided in Section 5.9.

5.7.2 Excavation in Bedrock

The bedrock surface was encountered at depths ranging from about 1.6 to 4.8 m below the existing ground surface. Excavations into the bedrock will be required for the three levels of underground parking.

The bedrock encountered at this site, in general, consists of slightly weathered to fresh dolostone/sandstone. The thin upper portion of the bedrock, however, is highly weathered (as encountered in boreholes 21-02, 21-03 and 21-06 to 21-09). It will likely be possible to carry out the bedrock removal using mechanical methods (such as hydraulic excavators and hoe ramming) for the removal of the highly weathered portion of the bedrock or for shallow excavations into bedrock (such as for service installation).

Where deep excavation of the sound bedrock is required (for the underground parking), it is anticipated that the bedrock removal could be carried out using controlled blasting, potentially in conjunction with hoe ramming and closely spaced line drilling.



The borehole log information (such as bedding and jointing orientations and spacing) suggests that near-vertical excavation walls in the bedrock should stand unsupported for the construction period. The borehole data, however, provides only limited information of the bedding and jointing in the bedrock and therefore the exposed bedrock should be inspected regularly (as the bedrock excavation proceeds) by qualified geotechnical personnel to assess the exposed bedrock surface for potential localized instabilities. Additional temporary rock support system such as rock bolts or shotcrete and mesh might be required to secure localized unstable rock wedges or poor-quality rock. If rock bolts are used to secure the unstable rock wedges (on the rock faces against the foundation walls where they are relied on for long-term support of the rock walls), they should be designed as a long-term / permanent stabilization measure and should have adequate corrosion protection cover.

All loose rock should be removed from the sidewalls during excavation to ensure the safety of workers.

The blasting should be controlled to limit the peak particle velocities at all adjacent structures or services such that blast induced damage will be avoided. This will require blast designs by a specialist in this field (see Section 5.13).

5.8 Groundwater Management

5.8.1 Estimates of Groundwater Taking and Radius of Influence

5.8.1.1 Construction Condition

It is understood that three levels of underground garage parking are being considered. Accordingly, excavation will be through surficial fill and native glacial till, into the underlying bedrock. Based on the groundwater conditions observed in the monitoring wells, excavations will likely extend below the groundwater level. The rate of groundwater inflow to the excavation will depend on many factors, including: the contractor's schedule and rate of excavation, the size of the excavation, and the time of year at which the excavation is made. Also, there may be instances where precipitation collects in an open excavation and must be rapidly pumped out.

According to O.Reg 63/16 and O.Reg 387/04, if the volume of water to be pumped from excavations for the purpose of construction dewatering is greater than 50,000 L/day and less than 400,000 L/day, the water taking will need to be registered as a prescribed activity in the Environmental Activity and Sector Registry (EASR) and requires the completion of a "Water Taking Plan". Alternatively, a Permit to Take Water (PTTW) is required from the Ministry of the Environment Conservation and Parks (MECP) if a volume of water greater than 400,000 L/day is to be pumped from an excavation.

It is possible that groundwater elevations encountered during construction may be higher than those observed in October 2021, if, for example, construction occurs during the spring. Therefore, groundwater inflow estimates were completed using a groundwater elevation that is 0.5 m higher than the measured groundwater elevations. Incident precipitation could add approximately 700,000 L/day to the underground parking excavation, based on the proposed footprint, and assuming a 79.2 mm precipitation event (a 10-year event as observed at the Ottawa Airport weather station).

The Dupuit-Forcheimer analytical solution was used to estimate the potential groundwater inflow into the underground parking excavation using the geometric mean hydraulic conductivity measured in the wells screened above and to the depth of the underground parking (all monitoring wells except 21-10). The initial head elevation of the analytical model was assigned a value of 62.9 m (i.e., 0.5 m above the value recorded at monitoring well 21-04). It is assumed that construction dewatering activities would lower the groundwater level to an elevation of 56.0 m for the preliminary analysis. The hydraulic conductivity of the bedrock at this depth was

estimated to be approximately 1x10⁻⁴ cm/s. The amount of dewatering needed for the excavation (including a safety factor of 2) is estimated to be between 105,000 (steady-state inflow) and 450,000 (initial inflow) litres per day (L/day). The radius of influence for the excavation is estimated to be approximately 25 m from the edge of the excavation. Groundwater inflow and dewatering radius of influence calculations are included in Appendix F.

Based on the groundwater conditions observed at the site and depending on how the excavation proceeds, water taking exceeding 400,000 L/day may be required to dewater groundwater from the excavation. As a result, a PTTW may be necessary for the water taking associated with the proposed work.

5.8.1.2 Permanent Condition

The Dupuit-Forcheimer analytical solution was used to estimate the potential groundwater inflow to the drainage system for the three levels of underground parking. The initial groundwater elevation was assumed to be 62.9 m (i.e., 0.5 m above the value recorded at monitoring well 21-04), and it was assumed that the drains would lower the groundwater elevation to elevation 56.5 m for the preliminary analysis. The analytical solution was run using the geometric mean hydraulic conductivity measured in the wells screened at the depth of the underground parking. The steady-state dewatering rate (including a safety factor of 2.0) for the drainage system is estimated to be approximately 92,000 L/day. The radius of influence for the drainage system for steady-state flow was estimated to be approximately 25.0 m from the underground parking (see Appendix F).

5.9 Temporary Shoring

The excavation through the overburden for underground parking will extend to depths of about 1.6 to 4.8 m below the existing ground surface. The contractor is fully responsible for the detailed design and performance of the temporary shoring systems. However, this section of the report provides some general guidelines on possible concepts for the shoring to be used by the designers for assessing the possible impacts of the shoring design and site works as well as to evaluate, at the design stage, the potential for impacts of this shoring on the adjacent properties. Temporary shoring can be used in combination with open cuts above the top of shoring, however, the earth pressure distribution must take into account the effects of the soil pressures from the upper open cut section.

The shoring method(s) chosen to support the excavation sides must take into account the soil and bedrock stratigraphy, the permissible movement of the shoring, the groundwater conditions, the methods adopted to manage the groundwater and construct the shoring systems, the potential ground movements associated with the excavation and construction of the shoring system, and their impact on adjacent structures and utilities.

For design purposes, a soldier pile and timber lagging system are considered a feasible shoring method that may be considered for the proposed excavations at the site. Due to the presence of shallow bedrock beneath the overlaying deposits, the soldier piles might need to be socketed into the competent bedrock to provide sufficient embedment for toe fixity, or the piles may need to be pinned to bedrock. Soldier pile and lagging walls are considered suitable for the sides of the excavations (provided that settlement-sensitive structures or utilities are not present in the zone of influence of the walls) where the objective is to maintain an essentially vertical excavation wall and the movements above and behind the wall need only be sufficiently limited so that relatively flexible features (such as roadways or sidewalks) will not be adversely affected.

Where foundations or settlement-sensitive infrastructure are present within the zone of influence of the shoring, the deflections may need to be greatly limited and therefore soldier pile and timber lagging system might not be

feasible. Golder can provide further recommendations and guideline in the detailed design stage when the distance and extent of the excavations with respect to the sensitive structures are determined.

For a soldier pile and lagging system, some form of lateral support to the wall is typically required for excavation depths greater than about 3 to 4 m. Lateral restraint could be provided by means of tie-backs consisting of grouted soil or bedrock anchors. However, the use of rock/ground anchor tie-backs would require the permission of the adjacent property owners since the anchors would likely encroach on their properties. The presence of utilities beneath the adjacent properties, which could interfere with the tie-backs, should also be considered. Alternatively, interior struts can be considered, connected either to the opposite side of the excavation (if not too distant) or to raker piles and/or footings within the excavation.

5.10 Floor Slab

The floor slab of the underground parking will be cast on bedrock.

Provision should be made for at least 150 mm of OPSS.MUNI 1010 Granular A compacted to 100% of the material's standard Proctor Maximum Dry Density (SPMDD) to form the base for the floor slab. Any engineered fill required to raise the grade to the underside of the Granular A, should consist of OPSS.MUNI 1010 Granular B Type II, or the Granular A bedding can be thickened, as needed. The underslab fill should be placed in maximum 300 mm thick lifts and compacted to at least 100% of the material's SPMDD using suitable vibratory compaction equipment.

Provision should be made for drainage underneath the floor slab. The details on the permanent dewatering system are provided in Section 5.8.1.2, and subfloor drainage system should be designed to accommodate permanent groundwater inflow.

As a preliminary guideline, the subfloor drainage system may consist of a network of perimeter drains and sub-drain pipes conveying collected groundwater to a sump or sumps from which the groundwater can be pumped to a municipal sewer. The drainage system would consist of interconnected, perforated drain pipes (fully wrapped in non-woven geotextile and backfilled with free draining granular soils) installed around the perimeter and within the underground parking footprint. The capacity of the subfloor drainage system should be modified during construction as required if higher than anticipated inflows are observed. For preliminary design, the subdrains should be spaced no greater than 6.0 m apart.

Vertical drainage system should be provided to the exterior foundation walls. The drainage system must withstand the design horizontal earth pressures used for foundation wall design and should be connected to the underslab perimeter drainage system (see further discussions below).

5.11 Foundation Wall Backfill and Drainage

The existing fill and glacial till encountered at this site are potentially frost susceptible and should not be used as backfill against the foundation walls. To avoid problems with frost adhesion and heaving as well as to provide drainage, the foundation walls should be backfilled with non-frost susceptible sand or sand and gravel conforming to the requirements for Ontario Provincial Standard Specification (OPSS) Granular B Type I, Granular B Type II, or Granular A. The granular backfill should be placed in maximum 300 mm thick lifts and should be compacted to at least 95% of the material's SPMDD using suitable vibratory compaction equipment. To reduce compaction induced stresses, only light compaction rollers or plate tampers should be used within 1.0 m of the wall.

If the basement walls will be backfilled, vertical drainage membrane such as Miradrain (or similar drainage board) should be installed prior to backfilling. If the wall will be cast against shoring/rock the drainage board should be installed prior to casting the wall.

Any narrow galleries between the foundation walls and shoring wall/exposed bedrock may be backfilled using clear stone (where too narrow for normal compacted granular fill). Where the clear stone is in direct contact with soil, it should be fully wrapped in non-woven geotextile.

The perimeter drainage of the basement wall backfill should be provided by means of a perforated pipe in a surround of 19 mm clear stone, fully wrapped in geotextile, which leads by gravity drainage to an adjacent storm sewer or sump pit.

In areas where pavement or other hard surfacing will abut the building, differential frost heaving could occur between the granular fill immediately adjacent to the building and the more frost susceptible backfill placed beyond the wall backfill. To reduce the severity of this differential heaving, the backfill adjacent to the foundation walls should be placed to form a frost taper. The frost taper should be brought up to pavement subgrade level from 1.5 m below finished exterior grade at a slope of 3 horizontal to 1 vertical, or flatter, away from the wall. The granular fill should be placed in maximum 300 mm thick lifts and should be compacted to at least 95% of the material's SPMDD using suitable vibratory compaction equipment.

5.12 Ground Movements

During the excavation of the underground parking area, lateral deformation and vertical settlement of the adjacent ground may occur as a result of installation and deflection of the excavation activities. The ground movements induced could affect the stability or performance of structures and buildings or underground utilities adjacent to the excavation. Therefore, the magnitude and extent of ground movement and potential impacts on surrounding infrastructure should be assessed prior to construction to confirm movements will be in tolerable limits and monitored during construction.

Protective measures such as temporary shoring for the excavations in soil may need to be adopted where the excavations interfere with the zone of influence of adjacent building foundations or other structures/utilities.

5.13 Vibration Monitoring

A pre-construction or pre-blast survey should be carried out for all of the surrounding structures. Selected existing interior and exterior cracks in the structures should be identified during the pre-construction survey and should be monitored for lateral or shear movements by means of pins, glass plate telltales and/or movement telltales.

The excavation contractor should be required to submit a complete and detailed blasting design and monitoring proposal prepared by a blasting/vibrations specialist prior to commencing blasting. This would have to be reviewed and accepted in relation to the requirements of the blasting specifications.

The contractor should be limited to only small, controlled shots. The following frequency dependent peak vibration limits at the nearest structures and services are suggested as typical vibration criteria commonly adopted for construction projects. If unusually sensitive receptors are identified during construction planning, then specific criteria may need to be adopted for those receptors.

Frequency Range (Hz)	Vibration Limits (mm/s)
< 10	5
10 to 40	5 to 50 (sliding scale)
> 40	50

It is recommended that the monitoring of ground vibration intensities (peak ground vibrations and accelerations) from the blasting operations be carried out both in the ground adjacent to the closest structures and services and within the structures themselves.

If practical, bedrock removal should commence at the furthest points from the closest structure or service to assess the ground vibration attenuation characteristics and to confirm the anticipated ground vibration levels.

Vibration monitoring should be carried out throughout all bedrock removal operations.

5.14 Site Servicing

5.14.1 Pipe Bedding and Cover

At least 150 mm of OPSS Granular A should be used as pipe bedding for sewer and water pipes. Where unavoidable disturbance to the subgrade surface occurs, or if fill material is located below the invert of the pipe, it will be necessary to remove the disturbed material or fill, and place a sub-bedding layer consisting of compacted OPSS Granular B Type II beneath the Granular A. The bedding material should in all cases extend to the spring line of the pipe and should be compacted to at least 95% of the material's SPMDD. The use of clear crushed stone as a bedding layer should not be permitted anywhere on this project since fine particles from the sandy backfill materials or surrounding soil could potentially migrate into the voids in the clear crushed stone and cause loss of lateral pipe support.

Cover material, from spring line of the pipe to at least 300 mm above the top of pipe, should consist of OPSS Granular A or Granular B Type I with a maximum particle size of 25 mm. The cover material should be compacted to at least 95% of the material's SPMDD.

5.14.2 Trench Backfill

Trench backfill may consist of approved excavated material such as the existing pavement granulars, inorganic fill and glacial till, where the services will be overlain by pavements or other hard surfacing.

It is important for frost heave compatibility that the trench backfill within the frost zone of 1.8 m depth below pavement grade matches the soil exposed on the trench walls. This will require some separation of materials upon excavation. In particular, where the watermain is to be installed beneath existing pavements, the trench backfill should match those existing granular layers.

Trench backfill should be placed in maximum 300 mm thick lifts and should be compacted to at least 95% of its SPMDD using suitable compaction equipment.



19

5.15 Pavement Design

In preparation for pavement construction, all disturbed, or otherwise deleterious materials (i.e., those materials containing organic material) should be removed from the roadway areas. To minimize potential for disturbance, the general grade should not be cut to final subgrade level until all services have been installed.

Sections requiring grade raising to the proposed subgrade level should be filled using acceptable (compactable and inorganic) earth borrow, OPSS Select Subgrade Material (SSM) or granular fill. These materials should be placed in maximum 300 mm thick lifts and should be compacted to at least 95% of the material's SPMDD using suitable compaction equipment.

Below the pavement structure, frost compatibility must be maintained across any new service trenches. Due to the variability of the soils within the project limits, the subsoil should be inspected by qualified geotechnical personnel to make sure that there is no potential for differential frost heaving.

5.15.1 Pavement Drainage

The surface of the pavement subgrade should be crowned to promote drainage of the roadway granular structure. The subgrade surface should be crowned or sloped to promote drainage of the roadway granular structure. Perforated pipe subdrains should be provided along the low sides of the roadway along the entire length. The subdrains should be installed in accordance with the City of Ottawa Specification F-4050 "Pipe Subdrain" and as per City of Ottawa Drawing No. R1. The geotextile should consist of a Class I non-woven geotextile to OPSS 1860. The geotextile should have a maximum Apparent Opening Size A.O.S. of 212 µm. The subdrains should be connected to the catch basins such that the pavement structure will be positively drained and will intercept flows within the subbase.

Backfilling of catch basin laterals located below subgrade level should be completed using acceptable native soils or fill which match the material types exposed on the lateral trench walls. This will reduce potential problems associated with differential frost heaving.

5.15.2 Granular Pavement Materials

Good drainage significantly improves the freeze-thaw resistance of the asphaltic concrete and decreases the frequency of transverse cracking, thereby extending the life of the pavement. The granular base and subbase for new construction should consist of Granular A and Granular B Type II (City of Ottawa F-3147), respectively.

5.15.3 Pavement Design

The pavement structure for local roads or parking lots, which will not experience bus or truck traffic (other than school bus and garbage collection), should consist of:

Pavement Component	Thickness (mm)
Asphaltic Concrete	90
OPSS Granular A Base	150
OPSS Granular B Type II Subbase	400



The pavement structure for roadways which will experience bus and/or truck traffic as well as fire routes should consist of:

Pavement Component	Thickness (mm)
Asphaltic Concrete	120
OPSS Granular A Base	150
OPSS Granular B Type II Subbase	450

The granular base and subbase materials should be uniformly compacted to at least 100% of material's SPMDD using suitable vibratory compaction equipment. The asphaltic concrete should be compacted in accordance with Table 10 of OPSS 310.

The composition of the asphaltic concrete pavement with 90 mm thickness should be as follows:

- Superpave 12.5 mm Surface Course 40 mm
- Superpave 19.0 mm Base Course 50 mm

The composition of the asphaltic concrete pavement with 120 mm thickness should be as follows:

- Superpave 12.5 mm Surface Course 50 mm
- Superpave 19.0 mm Base Course 70 mm

The asphaltic cement should consist of PG 58-34 and the design of the mixes should be based on a Traffic Category B.

The above pavement design is based on the assumption that the pavement subgrade has been acceptably prepared (i.e., where the trench backfill and grade raise fill have been adequately compacted to the required density and the subgrade surface not disturbed by construction operations or precipitation). Depending on the actual conditions of the pavement subgrade at the time of construction, it could be necessary to increase the thickness of the subbase and/or to place a woven geotextile beneath the granular materials.

5.15.4 Pavement Structure Compaction

Adequate compaction of the granular materials will be essential to the continued acceptable performance of the roadway and parking areas. Compaction should be carried out in conformance with procedures outlined in OPSS 501 "Construction Specification for Compacting" with compacted densities of the various materials being in accordance with Subsection 501.08.02 Method A. The granular base and subbase material should be uniformly compacted to at least 100% of the material's SPMDD using suitable vibratory compaction equipment. Compaction of the asphaltic concrete should be carried out in accordance with OPSS 310, Table 10.

The placement and compaction of any engineered fill, as well as sewer and watermain bedding and backfill, should be inspected to ensure that the materials used conform to the specifications from both a grading and compaction viewpoint. In addition, compaction testing and sampling of the asphaltic concrete used on site should be carried out to make sure that the materials used, and level of compaction achieved during construction meet the project requirements.

5.15.5 Joints, Tie-ins with Existing Pavements, Pavement Resurfacing

At intersections with roadways at the project extents, the new pavement structure should be continued to the limits of construction. At connections to existing pavements, the existing pavement should be milled back beyond the curb return an additional 300 mm to the depth of the new surface course to accept the new surface course asphaltic concrete.

The granular courses and subbase level should be tapered between the new and existing pavements by using 10 horizontal to 1 vertical tapers up or down as required. At driveways and commercial entrances, butt joints may be used.

A tack coat should be provided on all and vertical and milled horizontal surfaces. The tack coat should consist of SS-1 emulsified asphalt diluted with an equal amount of water. The undiluted and emulsified asphalt shall be in conformance with OPSS 1103.

5.16 Site Grading

The subsurface conditions at this site generally consist of fill, or fill underlain by a deposit of glacial till, which are in turn underlain by bedrock.

No practical restrictions apply to the thickness of grade raise fill which may be placed on the site from a foundation design perspective.

5.17 Material Reuse

The existing fill and glacial till materials encountered at this site are not considered to be generally suitable for reuse as structural/engineered fill. Within foundation areas, imported engineered fill such as OPSS Granular B Type II should be used (if required). The existing fill and native overburden soils could however be reused in non-structural areas (i.e., landscaping).

5.18 Trees

The silty clay soils in Ottawa are sensitive to water depletion by trees of high-water demand during periods of dry weather. When trees draw water from the clayey soil, the clay undergoes shrinkage which can result in settlement of adjacent structures.

Based on the results of the geotechnical investigation, the site is not underlain by sensitive silty clay. Therefore, no restrictions on the types or sizes of trees that may be planted or tree to foundation setback distances need to be considered for this development.

5.19 Corrosion and Cement Type

The concentration of sulphate provides an indication of the degree of sulphate attack that is expected for concrete in contact with soil and groundwater at the site. The sulphate results (see Section 4.7) were compared with Table 3 of Canadian Standards Association Standards A23.1-14 (CSA A23.1) and generally indicate a low degree of sulphate attack potential on concrete structures at the locations of all tested samples. Therefore, concrete made with Type GU Portland cement is considered acceptable for all substructures.

The pH, resistivity and chloride concentration provide an indication of the degree of corrosiveness of the sub-surface environment. Generally, the results indicate a moderate potential for corrosion of exposed ferrous metal within the study area, which should be taken into consideration in the design of substructures.

6.0 ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS

If construction is carried out during periods of sustained below freezing temperatures, all subgrade areas should be protected from freezing (e.g., by using insulated tarps and/or heating).

All footing and subgrade areas should be inspected by experienced geotechnical personnel prior to filling or concreting to document that the correct/expected strata exist and that the bearing surfaces have been properly prepared. The placing and compaction of any engineered fill, pipe bedding, and pavement base and subbase materials should be inspected to ensure that the materials used conform to the specifications from both a grading and compaction point of view.

At the time of the writing of this report, only conceptual details for the proposed development were available. Golder Associates should review the final drawings and specifications for this project prior to tendering to confirm that the guidelines in this report have been adequately interpreted and to review some of our preliminary recommendations.

7.0 CLOSURE

We trust that this report contains sufficient information for your present purposes. If you have any questions regarding this report or if we can be of further service to you on this project, please reach out us.



Signature page

Golder Associates Ltd.



Chris Hendry, P.Eng. Associate, Senior Geotechnical Engineer

KG/AG/CH/hdw

Golder and the G logo are trademarks of Golder Associates Corporation

c:\users\ijonesvilleneuve\golder associates\21494078, 1047 richmond nominee inc ottawa ph one two rsc - revised final report june 27 2023\21494078_1047 richmond rd-geolech investigation_rev 2_june 27, 2023.docx





IMPORTANT INFORMATION AND LIMITATIONS OF THIS REPORT

Standard of Care: Golder Associates Ltd. (Golder) has prepared this report in a manner consistent with that level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members of the engineering and science professions currently practicing under similar conditions in the jurisdiction in which the services are provided, subject to the time limits and physical constraints applicable to this report. No other warranty, expressed or implied is made.

Basis and Use of the Report: This report has been prepared for the specific site, design objective, development and purpose described to Golder by the Client <u>LPF Development Fund 3 LP.</u> The factual data, interpretations and recommendations pertain to a specific project as described in this report and are not applicable to any other project or site location. Any change of site conditions, purpose, development plans or if the project is not initiated within eighteen months of the date of the report may alter the validity of the report. Golder cannot be responsible for use of this report, or portions thereof, unless Golder is requested to review and, if necessary, revise the report.

The information, recommendations and opinions expressed in this report are for the sole benefit of the Client. No other party may use or rely on this report or any portion thereof without Golder's express written consent. If the report was prepared to be included for a specific permit application process, then the client may authorize the use of this report for such purpose by the regulatory agency as an Approved User for the specific and identified purpose of the applicable permit review process, provided this report is not noted to be a draft or preliminary report, and is specifically relevant to the project for which the application is being made. Any other use of this report by others is prohibited and is without responsibility to Golder. The report, all plans, data, drawings and other documents as well as all electronic media prepared by Golder are considered its professional work product and shall remain the copyright property of Golder, who authorizes only the Client and Approved Users to make copies of the report, but only in such quantities as are reasonably necessary for the use of the report by those parties. The Client and Approved Users may not give, lend, sell, or otherwise make available the report or any portion thereof to any other party without the express written permission of Golder. The Client acknowledges that electronic media is susceptible to unauthorized modification, deterioration and incompatibility and therefore the Client cannot rely upon the electronic media versions of Golder's report or other work products.

The report is of a summary nature and is not intended to stand alone without reference to the instructions given to Golder by the Client, communications between Golder and the Client, and to any other reports prepared by Golder for the Client relative to the specific site described in the report. In order to properly understand the suggestions, recommendations and opinions expressed in this report, reference must be made to the whole of the report. Golder cannot be responsible for use of portions of the report without reference to the entire report.

Unless otherwise stated, the suggestions, recommendations and opinions given in this report are intended only for the guidance of the Client in the design of the specific project. The extent and detail of investigations, including the number of test holes, necessary to determine all of the relevant conditions which may affect construction costs would normally be greater than has been carried out for design purposes. Contractors bidding on, or undertaking the work, should rely on their own investigations, as well as their own interpretations of the factual data presented in the report, as to how subsurface conditions may affect their work, including but not limited to proposed construction techniques, schedule, safety and equipment capabilities.

Soil, Rock and Groundwater Conditions: Classification and identification of soils, rocks, and geologic units have been based on commonly accepted methods employed in the practice of geotechnical engineering and related disciplines. Classification and identification of the type and condition of these materials or units involves judgment, and boundaries between different soil, rock or geologic types or units may be transitional rather than abrupt. Accordingly, Golder does not warrant or guarantee the exactness of the descriptions.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION AND LIMITATIONS OF THIS REPORT (cont'd)

Special risks occur whenever engineering or related disciplines are applied to identify subsurface conditions and even a comprehensive investigation, sampling and testing program may fail to detect all or certain subsurface conditions. The environmental, geologic, geotechnical, geochemical and hydrogeologic conditions that Golder interprets to exist between and beyond sampling points may differ from those that actually exist. In addition to soil variability, fill of variable physical and chemical composition can be present over portions of the site or on adjacent properties. The professional services retained for this project include only the geotechnical aspects of the subsurface conditions at the site, unless otherwise specifically stated and identified in the report. The presence or implication(s) of possible surface and/or subsurface contamination resulting from previous activities or uses of the site and/or resulting from the introduction onto the site of materials from off-site sources are outside the terms of reference for this project and have not been investigated or addressed.

Soil and groundwater conditions shown in the factual data and described in the report are the observed conditions at the time of their determination or measurement. Unless otherwise noted, those conditions form the basis of the recommendations in the report. Groundwater conditions may vary between and beyond reported locations and can be affected by annual, seasonal and meteorological conditions. The condition of the soil, rock and groundwater may be significantly altered by construction activities (traffic, excavation, groundwater level lowering, pile driving, blasting, etc.) on the site or on adjacent sites. Excavation may expose the soils to changes due to wetting, drying or frost. Unless otherwise indicated the soil must be protected from these changes during construction.

Sample Disposal: Golder will dispose of all uncontaminated soil and/or rock samples 90 days following issue of this report or, upon written request of the Client, will store uncontaminated samples and materials at the Client's expense. In the event that actual contaminated soils, fills or groundwater are encountered or are inferred to be present, all contaminated samples shall remain the property and responsibility of the Client for proper disposal.

Follow-Up and Construction Services: All details of the design were not known at the time of submission of Golder's report. Golder should be retained to review the final design, project plans and documents prior to construction, to confirm that they are consistent with the intent of Golder's report.

During construction, Golder should be retained to perform sufficient and timely observations of encountered conditions to confirm and document that the subsurface conditions do not materially differ from those interpreted conditions considered in the preparation of Golder's report and to confirm and document that construction activities do not adversely affect the suggestions, recommendations and opinions contained in Golder's report. Adequate field review, observation and testing during construction are necessary for Golder to be able to provide letters of assurance, in accordance with the requirements of many regulatory authorities. In cases where this recommendation is not followed, Golder's responsibility is limited to interpreting accurately the information encountered at the borehole locations, at the time of their initial determination or measurement during the preparation of the Report.

Changed Conditions and Drainage: Where conditions encountered at the site differ significantly from those anticipated in this report, either due to natural variability of subsurface conditions or construction activities, it is a condition of this report that Golder be notified of any changes and be provided with an opportunity to review or revise the recommendations within this report. Recognition of changed soil and rock conditions requires experience and it is recommended that Golder be employed to visit the site with sufficient frequency to detect if conditions have changed significantly.

Drainage of subsurface water is commonly required either for temporary or permanent installations for the project. Improper design or construction of drainage or dewatering can have serious consequences. Golder takes no responsibility for the effects of drainage unless specifically involved in the detailed design and construction monitoring of the system.





25, THE REAL REASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE HAS BEEN MODIFIED FR

APPENDIX A

Borehole Records

Organic or Inorganic	Soil Group	Туре	of Soil	Gradation or Plasticity	$Cu = \frac{D_{60}}{D_{10}}$		$Cc = \frac{(D_{30})^2}{D_{10}xD_{60}}$		Organic Content	USCS Group Symbol	Group Name	
		: of is mm)	Gravels with <12%	Poorly Graded		<4		≤1 or ≥	≥3		GP	GRAVEL
(ss	5 mm	/ELS / mass action	fines (by mass)	Well Graded		≥4		1 to 3	3		GW	GRAVEL
by ma	SOILS an 0.07	GRA 50% by arse fr	Gravels with	Below A Line			n/a				GM	SILTY GRAVEL
SANIC t ≤30%	AINED rger th	cc cc larg	fines (by mass)	Above A Line			n/a			<20%	GC	CLAYEY GRAVEL
INORC	SE-GR, ss is la	of is mm)	Sands with	Poorly Graded		<6 ≤1 or ≥3			\$30%	SP	SAND	
ganic (COAR: by ma	VDS / mass raction n 4.75	fines (by mass)	Well Graded		≥6		1 to 3	3		SW	SAND
Ō	(>50%	SAI 50% by oarse f ller tha	Sands with	Below A Line			n/a				SM	SILTY SAND
		<) sma	fines (by mass)	Above A Line	n/a					SC	CLAYEY SAND	
Organic	Soil			Laboratory			Field Indic	ators		Organic	USCS Group	Primary
or Inorganic	Group	Туре	of Soil	Tests	Dilatancy	Dry Strength	Shine Test	Thread Diameter	(of 3 mm thread)	Content	Symbol	Name
				Liquid Limit	Rapid	None	None	>6 mm	N/A (can't roll 3 mm thread)	<5%	ML	SILT
(ss	75 mm	and L	city low)	<50	Slow	None to Low	Dull	3mm to 6 mm	None to low	<5%	ML	CLAYEY SILT
by ma	OILS 1an 0.0	SILTS bic or P	n Plasti nart be		Slow to very slow	Low to medium	Dull to slight	3mm to 6 mm	Low	5% to 30%	OL	ORGANIC SILT
GANIC it ≤30%	NED S naller th	-Plast	d o d	Liquid Limit	Slow to very slow	Low to medium	Slight	3mm to 6 mm	Low to medium	<5%	МН	CLAYEY SILT
INOR	E-GRAI ss is sn	N		≥50	None	Medium to high	Dull to slight	1 mm to 3 mm	Medium to high	5% to 30%	ОН	ORGANIC SILT
rganic	FINE by mas		hart	Liquid Limit <30	None	Low to medium	Slight to shiny	~ 3 mm	Low to medium	0%	CL	SILTY CLAY
<u>o</u>	(≥50%	CLAYS	e A-Lir ticity C below)	Liquid Limit 30 to 50	None	Medium to high	Slight to shiny	1 mm to 3 mm	Medium	30%	CI	SILTY CLAY
			Plas	Liquid Limit ≥50	None	High	Shiny	<1 mm	High	(see Note 2)	СН	CLAY
×≌∞	ic 30% s)	Peat and mix	mineral soil tures				30% to		SILTY PEAT, SANDY PEAT			
HIGHL	ntent > oy mas	Predomir may con	nantly peat, tain some							75%	PT	
0	° S	mineral so amorph	il, fibrous or ious peat					1		to 100%		PEAT
40	Low	Plasticity	~ ^	Medium Plasticity	≺ Hig	h Plasticity	→	Dual Sym	bol — A dua	l symbol is	two symbols	separated by
						ratures,		a nypnen, For non-co	for example,	GP-GM, the dual s	whols must h	IVIL. Ne used when
					CLAY	Pro I		the soil h	as between	5% and	12% fines (i.e	e doed when e. to identify
30 -					· · · /			transitiona	l material b	etween "c	lean" and "di	rty" sand or
(k				SILTY CLAY	CLAYEY S	ит мн		gravel.				
ndex (I				a	ORGANIC S	SILT OH		For cones	IVE SOIIS, THE	dual symt	001 MUST DE US	ed when the
ticity 1				ine				of the plas	ticity chart (s	ee Plastici	ity Chart at left	t).
Plas				*					, ,		,	,
		SILTY CL	AY					Borderlin	e Symbol —	A borderl	ine symbol is	two symbols
10				LAYEY SILT ML				separated	by a slash, f	or example	e, CL/CI, GM/S	3M, CL/ML.
7 5	SILTY CLAY-CLAYEY SILT, CL-ML ORGANIC SILT OL A borderline symbol			identified as	s having r	properties that	t are on the					
•	SILT ML (SILT ML (See Note 1) transition			petween simi	lar materia	ls. In addition	, a borderline				
0	10	20	25.5 30	40 5 quid Limit (11)	o 60	70	80	symbol ma	ay be used to	indicate a	a range of simi	lar soil types
Note 1 – Fir	ne grained	materials wi	th PI and LL	that plot in this a	irea are namec	I (ML) SILT w	/ith	within a st	ratum.			
slight plast named SIL1	icity. Fine-	grained mat	erials which	are non-plastic (I.e. a PL canno	ot be measure	ed) are					
Note 2 – Fo between 5%	r soils with 6 and 30% (<5% organi organic con	ic content, in tent include t	clude the descri he prefix "organ	otor "trace org ic" before the	anics" for so Primary nam	oils with ie.					

The Golder Associates Ltd. Soil Classification System is based on the Unified Soil Classification System (USCS)

ABBREVIATIONS AND TERMS USED ON RECORDS OF BOREHOLES AND TEST PITS

PARTICLE SIZES OF CONSTITUENTS

Soil Constituent	Particle Size Description	Millimetres	Inches (US Std. Sieve Size)
BOULDERS	Not Applicable	>300	>12
COBBLES	Not Applicable	75 to 300	3 to 12
GRAVEL	Coarse Fine	19 to 75 4.75 to 19	0.75 to 3 (4) to 0.75
SAND	Coarse Medium Fine	2.00 to 4.75 0.425 to 2.00 0.075 to 0.425	(10) to (4) (40) to (10) (200) to (40)
SILT/CLAY	Classified by plasticity	<0.075	< (200)

MODIFIERS FOR SECONDARY AND MINOR CONSTITUENTS

Percentage by Mass	Modifier		
>35	Use 'and' to combine major constituents (<i>i.e.</i> , SAND and GRAVEL)		
> 12 to 35	Primary soil name prefixed with "gravelly, sandy, SILTY, CLAYEY" as applicable		
> 5 to 12	some		
≤ 5	trace		

PENETRATION RESISTANCE

Standard Penetration Resistance (SPT), N:

The number of blows by a 63.5 kg (140 lb) hammer dropped 760 mm (30 in.) required to drive a 50 mm (2 in.) split-spoon sampler for a distance of 300 mm (12 in.). Values reported are as recorded in the field and are uncorrected.

Cone Penetration Test (CPT)

An electronic cone penetrometer with a 60° conical tip and a project end area of 10 cm^2 pushed through ground at a penetration rate of 2 cm/s. Measurements of tip resistance (q_t), porewater pressure (u) and sleeve frictions are recorded electronically at 25 mm penetration intervals.

Dynamic Cone Penetration Resistance (DCPT); Nd:

The number of blows by a 63.5 kg (140 lb) hammer dropped 760 mm (30 in.) to drive uncased a 50 mm (2 in.) diameter, 60° cone attached to "A" size drill rods for a distance of 300 mm (12 in.).

- PH: Sampler advanced by hydraulic pressure
- PM: Sampler advanced by manual pressure
- WH: Sampler advanced by static weight of hammer
- WR: Sampler advanced by weight of sampler and rod

Compactness ²			
Term	SPT 'N' (blows/0.3m) ¹		
Very Loose	0 to 4		
Loose	4 to 10		
Compact	10 to 30		
Dense	30 to 50		
Marris Davaa	. 50		

NON-COHESIVE (COHESIONLESS) SOILS

 Very Dense
 >50

 1. SPT 'N' in accordance with ASTM D1586, uncorrected for the effects of overburden pressure.
 Incorrected for the effects of overburden pressure.

2. Definition of compactness terms are based on SPT 'N' ranges as provided in Terzaghi, Peck and Mesri (1996). Many factors affect the recorded SPT 'N' value, including hammer efficiency (which may be greater than 60% in automatic trip hammers), overburden pressure, groundwater conditions, and grainsize. As such, the recorded SPT 'N' value(s) should be considered only an approximate guide to the soil compactness. These factors need to be considered when evaluating the results, and the stated compactness terms should not be relied upon for design or construction.

Field Moisture Condition

Term	Description
Dry	Soil flows freely through fingers.
Moist	Soils are darker than in the dry condition and may feel cool.
Wet	As moist, but with free water forming on hands when handled.

SAMPLES	
AS	Auger sample
BS	Block sample
CS	Chunk sample
DD	Diamond Drilling
DO or DP	Seamless open ended, driven or pushed tube sampler – note size
DS	Denison type sample
GS	Grab Sample
MC	Modified California Samples
MS	Modified Shelby (for frozen soil)
RC	Rock core
SC	Soil core
SS	Split spoon sampler – note size
ST	Slotted tube
ТО	Thin-walled, open - note size (Shelby tube)
TP	Thin-walled, piston - note size (Shelby tube)
WS	Wash sample

SOIL TESTS

w	water content			
PL, w _p	plastic limit			
LL, w∟	liquid limit			
С	consolidation (oedometer) test			
CHEM	chemical analysis (refer to text)			
CID	consolidated isotropically drained triaxial test ¹			
CIU	consolidated isotropically undrained triaxial test with porewater pressure measurement ¹			
D _R	relative density (specific gravity, Gs)			
DS	direct shear test			
GS	specific gravity			
М	sieve analysis for particle size			
MH	combined sieve and hydrometer (H) analysis			
MPC	Modified Proctor compaction test			
SPC	Standard Proctor compaction test			
OC	organic content test			
SO ₄	concentration of water-soluble sulphates			
UC	unconfined compression test			
UU	unconsolidated undrained triaxial test			
V (FV)	field vane (LV-laboratory vane test)			
γ	unit weight			

1. Tests anisotropically consolidated prior to shear are shown as CAD, CAU.

COHESIVE SOILS					
Consistency					
Term	Undrained Shear Strength (kPa)	SPT 'N' ^{1,2} (blows/0.3m)			
Very Soft	<12	0 to 2			
Soft	12 to 25	2 to 4			
Firm	25 to 50	4 to 8			
Stiff	50 to 100	8 to 15			
Very Stiff	100 to 200	15 to 30			
Hard	>200	>30			

 SPT 'N' in accordance with ASTM D1586, uncorrected for overburden pressure effects; approximate only.

 SPT 'N' values should be considered ONLY an approximate guide to consistency; for sensitive clays (e.g., Champlain Sea clays), the N-value approximation for consistency terms does NOT apply. Rely on direct measurement of undrained shear strength or other manual observations.

Water Content				
Term	Description			
w < PL	Material is estimated to be drier than the Plastic Limit.			
w ~ PL	Material is estimated to be close to the Plastic Limit.			
w > PL	Material is estimated to be wetter than the Plastic Limit.			

Unless otherwise stated, the symbols employed in the report are as follows:

I.	GENERAL	(a)	Index Properties (continued)
π	3.1416	w _l or LL	liquid limit
ln x	natural logarithm of x	w _p or PL	plastic limit
log ₁₀	x or log x, logarithm of x to base 10	Ip or PI	plasticity index = $(W_l - W_p)$
y t	time	INP Wa	shrinkage limit
·		IL	liquidity index = $(w - w_p) / I_p$
		lc	consistency index = $(w_1 - w) / I_p$
		emax	void ratio in loosest state
		emin	void ratio in densest state
П.	STRESS AND STRAIN	ID	(formerly relative density) $(e_{max} - e_{min})$
	shear strain	(b)	Hydraulic Properties
Ŷ	change in e.g. in stress: A.g.	(b) b	hydraulic head or potential
<u>م</u> ٤	linear strain	a	rate of flow
εv	volumetric strain	V	velocity of flow
η	coefficient of viscosity	i	hydraulic gradient
υ	Poisson's ratio	k	hydraulic conductivity
σ	total stress		(coefficient of permeability)
σ'	effective stress ($\sigma' = \sigma - u$)	j	seepage force per unit volume
σ'_{vo}	initial effective overburden stress		
σ1, σ2, σ3	principal stress (major, intermediate, minor)	(c)	Consolidation (one-dimensional)
	minory	C _c	compression index
σoct	mean stress or octahedral stress		(normally consolidated range)
	$= (\sigma_1 + \sigma_2 + \sigma_3)/3$	Cr	recompression index
τ	shear stress		(over-consolidated range)
u	porewater pressure	Cs	swelling index
E	modulus of deformation	Cα	secondary compression index
С К	snear modulus of compressibility	mv C∵	coefficient of consolidation (vertical
IX .	Suit modulus of compressionity	00	direction)
		Ch	coefficient of consolidation (horizontal direction)
		Tv	time factor (vertical direction)
III.	SOIL PROPERTIES	U	degree of consolidation
(a)	Index Preparties	σ΄ρ	pre-consolidation stress
(a)	hulk density (bulk unit weight)*	UCK	over-consolidation ratio = σ'_p / σ'_{vo}
$P(\lambda)$	dry density (dry unit weight)	(d)	Shear Strength
$\rho_{\rm W}(\gamma_{\rm W})$	density (unit weight) of water	το. τr	peak and residual shear strength
ρs(γs)	density (unit weight) of solid particles	φ'	effective angle of internal friction
γ'	unit weight of submerged soil	δ	angle of interface friction
	$(\gamma' = \gamma - \gamma_w)$	μ	coefficient of friction = tan δ
D _R	relative density (specific gravity) of solid	C'	effective cohesion
	particles ($D_R = \rho_s / \rho_w$) (formerly G_s)	Cu, Su	undrained shear strength ($\phi = 0$ analysis)
e n		p p'	mean total stress $(\sigma_1 + \sigma_3)/2$
S	degree of saturation	þ	$(\sigma_1 - \sigma_2)/2$ or $(\sigma_1' - \sigma_2')/2$
U		Ч Qu	compressive strength ($\sigma_1 - \sigma_3$)
		St	sensitivity
* Damai	ity overholic - Unit weight overholic	Notos: 1	
where	ity symbol is p. Unit weight symbol is γ	2	$x = 0 + 0$ tail ψ shear strength = (compressive strength)/2
acceleration due to gravity)			
RECORD OF BOREHOLE: 21-01

SHEET 1 OF 1 DATUM: Geodetic

LOCATION: N 5026314.5 ;E 361326.2

SAMPLER HAMMER, 64kg; DROP, 760mm

BORING DATE: September 24, 2021

	0		SOIL PROFILE			S/	AMPL	ES	HEAD	SPACE	COMBU	STIBLE		HYDRAUL		UCTIVI	ΓY,			
MEIKES	ING METHO		DESCRIPTION	TA PLOT	ELEV.	MBER	γPE	VS/0.30m	VAPO ND = 1 1 HEAD	UK CON Vot Detec 00 2 I SPACE (ENTRAT	CENTR/ 200 3 L DRGANI CONS IF	00 C VAPC	(₽₽M] € 400 /UR	10 ⁻⁶	TR CONT	10 ⁻⁴	10 ⁻³ RCENT	DDITIONAL B. TESTING	PIEZOMETE OR STANDPIPE INSTALLATIO	E E ON
	BOR			STRA	(m)	1 2		BLOV	ND = 1	Vot Detec	ted 3	00	400	Wp ⊢ 20	40	<u>60</u>	WI 80	LAI		
0		4	GROUND SURFACE		65.73													_	5 1 - 1 1	al al
		w Stem)	FILL - (SW) gravelly SAND, angular; brown (PAVEMENT STRUCTURE); (non-cohesive, moist FILL - (SM) gravelly SILTY SAND; grey		0.10	1	ss	19	ND									Metals	Flush Mount Casing	
1	Power Auger	nm Diam. (Hollo	to dark brown, trace sand (SP); non-coohesive, moist, compact to very loose			2	ss	4 9	ND											
		200 r			63.90	3	ss	2 0	ND									PHCs, VOCs		
2 3			BEDROCK (Auger Refusal) (Air hammer from 1.83 m to 7.62 m)		1.83														Bentonite Seal	
4	Air Hammer	H Bit																	Silica Sand	17, 217, 217, 217, 217, 217, 217, 217, 2
ô																			50 mm Diam. PVC #10 Slot Screen	
7																				
-		+	End of Borehole		58.11 7.62														⊉	2012
8			Note(s):																	
			7.63 m (Elev. 58.13 m) on October 5, 2021																	
9			 Borehole log not for geotechnical purposes. 																	
10																				
DEP 1 : 5	РТ⊦ 0	1 S	CALE							G O		DE	R					L CH	OGGED: DG IECKED: AG	

RECORD OF BOREHOLE: 21-02

BORING DATE: September 21, 2021

SHEET 1 OF 1

DATUM: Geodetic

LOCATION: N 5026359.3 ;E 361297.8 SAMPLER HAMMER, 64kg; DROP, 760mm

Τ	DO.	3	SOIL PROFILE			SA	MPI	LES	HEADS	SPACE (COMBL	ISTIBL RATION	.E NS (P	PM] ⊕	HYDRAULIC C		FIVITY,		ں _، ں		
MEIKES	ORING METH		DESCRIPTION	RATA PLOT	ELEV. DEPTH	NUMBER	TYPE	-OWS/0.30m	ND = N 10 HEADS CONCI ND = N	lot Detection 002 SPACE (ENTRAT	Cted 200 ORGAN TIONS [Cted	300 IIC VA PPM]	40 POUF	0 7	10 ⁻⁶ WATER C Wp	10 ⁻⁵ 1 CONTENT	0 ⁻⁴ 1	0 ⁻³ NT WI	ADDITIONAL LAB. TESTIN	PIEZOMETER OR STANDPIPE INSTALLATION	N
_	8	2		ST	(,			B	10	0 2	200	300	40	0	20	40 6	50 E	30			
0			ASPHALT FILL - (SW) gravellyl SAND, angular; grey (PAVEMENT STRUCTURE); (non-cohesive, moist FILL - (SP) SAND, fine to medium, trace		65.46 0.08 65.16 0.30	1	ss	220	ND											Flush Mount Casing	
1	_	w Stem)	silt; brown; non-cohesive, moist, compact to dense		64.2 <u>4</u>	2	ss	31	D ND										Metals		
	Power Auger	mm Diam. (Hollo	GRAVEL; dark brown, contains brick fragments and rootlets; non-cohesive, moist, compact		63.63	3	ss	109	D ND												
2		200				4	ss	>84	ND											Bentonite Seal	
3					62.41	5	SS	>50	ND										PHCs, VOCs		
			(Air hammer from 3.05 M TO 7.62 M)																	Ţ	
4																				Sinca Sanu Sinca Sinca Sinc	والمراجع والمراجع والمراجع
5	AIr Hammer	H Bit																		1,246,346,346,346,346 	فلولا فاركا فاركا فاركا فارداء
6																				#10 Slot Screen	
7																				40,990,980,980,980	
			End of Borehole	\mathbb{Z}	57.84															1	ł
8			Note(s):																		
			1. Water level measured at a depth of 3.32 m (Elev. 62.14 m) on October 5, 2021																		
9			2. Borehole log not for geotechnical purposes.																		
10																					
)EP	ידו	нs	CALE	<u> </u>						GC) L	D	E	R						DGGED: DG	

RECORD OF BOREHOLE: 21-03

BORING DATE: September 21 & 22, 2021

SHEET 1 OF 1

DATUM: Geodetic

LOCATION: N 5026355.1 ;E 361289.2 SAMPLER HAMMER, 64kg; DROP, 760mm

Т	~		2011 222211 2						HEAT	SPACE	0.0	MBUS				HYDRAU			IVITY				
	ETHOL		SOIL PROFILE	DT		S/	-MP	LES E	VAPO ND =	OUR CO Not Det	NCE ected 200	NTRA		[PPM] 400] ⊕	10 ⁻⁶	, cm/s 11) ⁻⁵ 1)-4	10 ⁻³	NAL	PIEZOMET	ER
	NG MI		DESCRIPTION	JI PL	ELEV.	ABER	ĥ	S/0.3(HEAD	OSPACE		GANIC	VAPC	DUR	_	WAT	FER CO	ONTENT	PERCI	Î ENT	DITIC . TES		PE
	30RIN			TRAT	DEPTH (m)	¶ ¶	≿	LOW	CON ND =	CENTRA Not Det	ATIOI ected	NS [PI 1	PM]			Wp H		-0 ^W		WI	AD	MOTALLAT	
╀	8	-	GROUND SURFACE	SI	05.0	_	+	Ē		100	200	3	00	400		20	4	06	0	80			
	Т		ASPHALT	~~~	65.24	1	-				+			_								Flush Mount	
			FILL - (SW) gravelly SAND, angular; grey (PAVEMENT STRUCTURE);			1	ss	43	e I												VOCs	Casing	
			non-cohesive, moist		64.63	3			ND														
			FILL - (SP) SAND, fine to medium, trace silt; brown; non-cohesive, moist, dense		0.61																		
		em)			8	2	SS	31	⊕⊡ ∣ND												PHCs		
	e	low St	FILL - (SM) SILTY SAND, some topsoil,	₩	64.02 1.22	2	-																
ŀ	er Aug	н Н	trace gravel; dark brown, contains shale fragments; non-cohesive, moist,		8	3	ss	12	.												Metals		
	Š O L	n Diar	compact		63.41	1																	
		200 m	Highly weathered BEDROCK	\otimes	1.83	3 4	ss	>94	E														
				K		Ľ																Bentonite Seal	
				\mathbb{N}	2	5	ss	52/															
								ľ															
L				Ø	62.19	9																	
			BEDROCK (Auger Refusal) (Air hammer from 3.05 m to 7.62 m)	\mathbb{N}	3.05	5																Ž	Z
l				K																			
				\otimes	Ź																		
					3																		
				\otimes	8																	SIlica Sand	10,20
				K																			H
				\mathbb{Z}	Å																		
	ner			\otimes																			
:	Ham	Ш		K	4																		١ <u>ا</u>
ľ	₹			\mathbb{N}	2																		
				\otimes																			
				K	Â																	50 mm Diam. PVC #10 Slot Screen	
				\bigotimes	2																		
					Ą																		E
				\otimes																			
		_	End of Borehole	Z	57.62	2																	Ľ
			Note(s):																				
1			1. Water level measured at a depth of																				
			4.22 m (Elev. 62.02 m) on October 5, 2021																				
			2. Borehole log not for geotechnical																				
			purposes.																				
	·			<u> </u>		1																	
=⊢ :5	0	15	UALE				Į			GC	וכ		ר E	: R	K						CH	ECKED: AG	
	-							492													2.1		

RECORD OF BOREHOLE: 21-04

BORING DATE: September 21, 2021

SHEET 1 OF 1

DATUM: Geodetic

LOCATION: N 5026369.7 ;E 361313.7 SAMPLER HAMMER, 64kg; DROP, 760mm

DATE. September 21, 2021

	0		SOIL PROFILE			SA	AMPL	ES	HEADSPACE	COMBUS	TIBLE		HYDR	AULIC C	ONDUC	TVITY,				
METRES	ING METHO		DESCRIPTION	TA PLOT	ELEV.	MBER	ΥPE	VS/0.30m	VAPOUR CON ND = Not Dete 100 HEADSPACE CONCENTRA	ICENTRA cted 200 30 UCENTRA 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30	TIONS [I 00 4 VAPOL 2M1	PPM] ⊕ 00 JR □	1 W	k, cm/s 0 ⁻⁶ 1 ATER C	0 ⁻⁵ 1 DNTENT	D ⁻⁴ 10 PERCEN) ⁻³ NT	DDITIONAL B. TESTING	PIEZOMET OR STANDPIF INSTALLAT	ER PE 10N
	BOR			STRA	(m)	Ĩ		BLOW	ND = Not Dete	cted 200 30	0 4	00	W 2	o 20	<u> </u>	N 60 81	/VI 0	LAI		
0	_	GROUN	SURFACE		65.09	,													Flush Mount	is 1
		FILL - (S brown to fragmen compact	I SM) SILTY SAND, trace gravel; o grey brown, contains wood ts; non-cohesive, moist, loose to t		0.08	1	ss	9 €	Ð D									VOCs	Casing	擅
1						2	ss	10€	Ð ND											
an Armon	er Auger m /Hollow Starr					3	ss	7 €	D D											
2	200 mm Diar				62.65	4	ss	14 f	ND										Bentonite Seal	
		(SIM) gra contains (GLACI/	ALTILL); non-cohesive, wet,		2.44	5	SS	49											Ž	Z
3		dense				6	ss	55/ 4"										PHCs		
-	+	BEDRO (Air ham	CK (Auger Refusal) Imer from 3.66 m to 7.62 m)		61.43 3.66	3														
4																				
																			SIlica Sand	5.25
																				1. N
5																				NO. NO.
	t mer																			12.2.2.2
Ate Have																				N.C.N.
6																			50 mm Diam. PVC #10 Slot Screen	1.2.1.2
																				1. N. C.
																				11 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
7																				10.20
					57.47	,														NO.N
		End of B	orehole		7.62	2														-
8		1. Water	level measured at a depth of																	
		2.70 m (2021	Elev. 62.39 m) on October 5,																	
		2. Boreh	ole log not for geotechnical s.																	
9																				
0																				
L DEP	TH	SCALE			1	1				г		D	I	1	1	II		L	OGGED: DG	
: 5	0						<			, L L		R						СН	ECKED: AG	

RECORD OF BOREHOLE: 21-05 LOCATION: N 5026358.2 ;E 361327.9

BORING DATE: September 22/24, 2021

SHEET 1 OF 1

DATUM: Geodetic

SAMPLER HAMMER, 64kg; DROP, 760mm

		, 1						E0	HEADS	PACE COMP	BUSTI	BLE		HYDR	AULIC		דועודי	Y,			
AETRES	JG METHOL		DESCRIPTION	A PLOT	ELEV.	ABER		s/0.30m	VAPOL ND = N 10 HEADS	JR CONCEN tot Detected 0 200 PACE ORGA	TRATI 300 ANIC \	ONS [F 40 /APOU	PM] ⊕ 00 R _	1 	k, cm/ 0 ⁻⁶ /ATER (s 10 ⁻⁵ L CONTEN	10 ⁻⁴	10 ⁻³	DITIONAL . TESTING	PIEZOMETE OR STANDPIP INSTALLATI	ER E
≥	BORIN		BEGGRI HON	TRAT	DEPTH (m)	NUN	≿	BLOWS	CONCE ND = N	ENTRATIONS of Detected	S [PPN	1]		w	p		/	- wi	ADI	INSTALLATI	UN
			GROUND SURFACE	0)	65.47				10	10 200	300	40	0		20	40	60	80			
			ASPHALT FILL - (SP) SAND, fine to coarse, some gravel, trace silt; brown; non-cohesive, moist, compact		0.08	1	ss	15	∋ ND											Flush Mount Casing	
1			FILL - (SM/GW) SILTY SAND and GRAVEL; dark brown, contains wood fragments; non-cohesive, moist, compact		0.61	2	ss	20€	E ND										PHCs, VOCs		
		v Stem)	Possible FILL - (SP) SILTY SAND, fine		64.02 1.45	3	ss	52/e 0") ND										PHCs, VOCs		
2	Power Auger	n Diam. (Hollo	to coarse, trace silt, trace gravel; grey brown; non-cohesive, moist, compact to dense			4	SS	20 €	ש ND												
		200 mr			62 73	5	ss	396	D ND											Bentonite Seal	
5			(SM) gravelly SILTY SAND, non-plastic fines; grey brown, contains cobbles (GLACIAL TILL); non-cohesive, moist, dense		2.74	6	ss	46	∄ ND												
					61.82	7	ss	34/ 10"	■												
4 5 6 7	Air Hammer	H Bit	(Air hammer from 3.65 m to 7.62 m)																	Sllica Sand 50 mm Diam. PVC #10 Slot Screen	a,va,va,va,va,va,va,va,va,va,va,va,va,va
8			End of Borehole Note(s):		57.85 7.62	-															
0			1. Water level measured at a depth of 3.94 m (Elev 61.53 m) on October 5, 2021																		
9			2. Borehole log not for geotechnical purposes.																		
	PTH	- I Si	CALE		<u> </u>	I				GOL	. D	E	R	1	<u> </u>	<u> </u>				DGGED: DG	

RECORD OF BOREHOLE: 21-06

BORING DATE: September 30, 2021

SHEET 1 OF 2

DATUM: Geodetic

LOCATION: N 5026317.1 ;E 361275.1 SAMPLER HAMMER, 64kg; DROP, 760mm

								F 0	DYNAM	IC PFN	ETRATIC	DN .	<u> </u>	HYDR			IVITY			
ALE ALE	0	THOL		F		SA	IVIPL	. <u>_</u> .5 	RESIST	ANCE,	BLOWS/	0.3m	<u>``</u> ز		k, cm/s			0-3	ING	PIEZOMETER
H SC	2	9 ME		PLO	ELEV.	BER	Й	0.30r	20			0 8	30	1				0-3 I	TEST	OR STANDPIPE
DEPT	ž	ORING	DESCRIPTION	RATA	DEPTH	NUME	ТҮР	OWS	Cu, kPa	STREN	re	ar v. ∓ em V. ⊕	U- 0	W				WI	ADD LAB.	INSTALLATION
		B		STF	(m)	-		BLO	20	4	06	٤ ٥	30	2	20 4	0 6	0 E	30		
-	0	_			65.00															
-			FILL - (SW) gravelly SAND, angular;		0.05															Casing
-		(me)	non-cohesive, moist	/																-
-	ł	low S	FILL - (SP) SAND, fine to medium, trace silt; brown; non-cohesive, moist, loose																	
-	1	n. (Ho	FILL - (SM) gravelly SILTY SAND: grev		64.0 <u>9</u> 0.91															-
F		m Diar	brown, contains organic matter, possible cobbles; non-cohesive, moist, loose			1	SS	37												Bentonite Seal
-		200 m	Highly weathered BEDROCK	\bigotimes	63.63 1.37															-
-						2	SS	>76												
Ē	+		Borehole continued on RECORD OF	M	63.12 1.88															
Ē	2		DRILLHOLE 21-06																	-
-																				-
Ē																				-
F																				-
-	3																			-
E																				-
-																				
_																				-
-	4																			-
Ē																				-
F																				-
Ē																				-
-	5																			
-																				-
E																				-
F																				
F	6																			
F																				-
E																				-
-																				-
È.	7																			-
E																				-
Ē																				-
-																				-
_	8																			-
I ZS																				-
16/21																				-
12/																				-
GD -	0																			-
-WIS	Ĩ			1																
GA																				-
3.GP																				-
94078																				-
214:	10			1																_
S 001			· · · · -							=					1		1			
S-BH		TH S	SCALE				Q		G	iΟ	LC)E	R						L	DGGED: RI
Ξ	1:5	U					_		-										CH	EUKED: AG

PRO LOC	ojec Catic Lina ⁻	T: 21494078 DN: N 5026317.1 ;E 361275.1 TION: -90° AZIMUTH:		RE	CC	DR	D		DRI DRI DRI	DR LLIN LL R LLIN	GD IG: IG:	LH ATE: CME ONTI	Se 55 RAC		E: 21-06 ember 30, 2021 DR: CCC Drilling	j							S⊦ DA	IEET 2 OF 2 ITUM: Geodetic
METRES	DRILLING RECORD	DESCRIPTION	SYMBOLIC LOG	ELEV. DEPTH (m)	RUN No.	FLUSH COLOUR RETURN	JN FL SH VN CJ REC TOTAL CORE	- Jo T - Fa IR- Sh I - Ve - Co COVER	int iult ear ein onjug RY DLID RE %	R.Q.		D-Bed D-Folia D-Con R-Orth - Clea RACT. NDEX PER .25 m .25 m	ding ation tact ogor vage DIP v CO AX	w.r.t. RE US 006	PL - Planar CU - Curved UN - Undulating ST - Stepped IR - Irregular DISCONTINUITY E TYPE AND SURFA DESCRIPTION	PO- Po K - Sli SM- Sn Ro - Ro MB- Me DATA	lished ckensio nooth ugh echanic	ded cal Bre	BF NC abb of a sak syr ROCK TRENG INDE>	R - E DTE: F breviat abbrev mbols.	WEAT ERING WEAT	Rock onal er to list & H- G X A	t Q VG.	
	_	BEDROCK SURFACE		63.12			ĨĨ						Ĩ							Ī		Í		
2		Slightly weathered to fresh, medium to thickly bedded, medium grey, fine grained, faintly porous, medium strong DOLOSTONE, interbedded with shale, limestone and sandstone		1.88	1	100									BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO									
3		 Broken core from 1.88 m to 2.07 m Broken core from 2.34 m to 2.38 m Broken core from 2.41 m to 2.43 m 			2	100									BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO									
4					3	100									BD_UN_SM BD_PL_SM BD_PL_SM BD_PL_SM SO BD_PL_SM SO BD_PL_SM SO BD_PL_SM SO BD_PL_SM SO BD_PL_SM SO BD_PL_SM SO BD_PL_SM SO BD_PL_SM SO BD_PL_SM SO BD_PL_SM SO BD_PL_SM SO BD_PL_SM SO BD_PL_SM SO BD_PL_SM SO SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD	<1 mm L 5 mm L <1 mm								Bentonite Seal
Ū	tary Drill 3 Core	- Broken core from 5.11 m to 5.14 m													BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM BD,UN,SM SO BD,PL,SM									
6	R0 H0	- Broken core from 6.47 m to 6.49 m			4	100									AJN,PL,H IN,CA BD,PL,SM DC,CL JN,PL,SM DC,CL BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM D,PL,SM	<1 mm <1 mm <1 mm <1 mm								Silica Sand
7					5	100									BD.PL.SM BD.PL.SM									52 mm Diam. PVC
9		- Lost core from 8.56 m to 8.59 m		55.62	6	100									BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM 2 mm BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM	,SA								
10		End of Drillhole Note(s): 1. Water level measured at a depth of 6.84 m (Elev. 58.16 m) on October 5, 2021		9.38																				ια. I
DEF	PTH S	SCALE							G	6 C)		D	E	R									OGGED: RI

RECORD OF BOREHOLE: 21-07

BORING DATE: September 30, 2021

SHEET 1 OF 2

DATUM: Geodetic

LOCATION: N 5026297.0 ;E 361328.4 SAMPLER HAMMER, 64kg; DROP, 760mm

\vdash	Т	۵	SOIL PROFILE			SA	MPI	ES	DYNAMIC PE	NETRATI	ON	<u>۱</u>	HYDRAU		ONDUC	FIVITY,			
CALE ES		ETHO		OT				E E	RESISTANCE	40 40	/0.3m	» ۵	10-	k, cm/s ⁶ 11) ⁻⁵ 1	0 ⁻⁴ 1	0-3	TING	PIEZOMETER OR
AETRI S		NG MI	DESCRIPTION	LA PL	ELEV.	ABER	FL	S/0.30	SHEAR STRE	NGTH I	nat V. +	Q - ●	WA	TER C	Í ONTENT	Î PERCE	INT	DITIO 5. TES	STANDPIPE
DEP		BORI		TRAT	DEPTH (m)	Ŋ	F	LOW	Cu, kPa	ľ	em V. ⊕	U- O	Wp	H	0 ^W		WI	AD	
	+		GROUND SURFACE	S	00.07			8	20	40 6	8 0	0	20	4	06	50 8	80		
- c			ASPHALT		0.05														Flush Mount
-		(m	FILL - (SW) gravelly SAND, angular; grey (PAVEMENT STRUCTURE);		65.82 65.64														Casing
Ē		ow St	Nnon-cohesive, moist		0.43														
F		Holl .	sand; brown; non-cohesive, moist		05.40														
- 1	1	Diam	brown; non-cohesive, moist, loose	\bigotimes	0.91	1	22	92											Bentonite Seal
-		00 mr	Highly weathered BEDROCK					02											
-		5		\mathbb{N}	64.45			50/											
-	F		Borehole continued on RECORD OF	Y/	1.62	2	SS	4"											
-			DRILLHOLE 21-07																
Ē	2																		-
-																			
-																			
E																			
- 3	3																		-
Ē																			
-																			
-																			
- 4	4																		-
-																			
F																			
-																			
	5																		-
-																			
F																			
E																			
-																			
- 6	6																		-
E																			
-																			
-																			
- 7	7																		-
-																			
-																			
-																			
- - ε	в																		-
I ZS																			
16/2																			
T 12																			
Щ́-	1																		-
GAL																			
GPJ																			
4078																			
01 J	D																		-
001				1			_									<u> </u>	1		
D BH	EP	TH S	SCALE					¢	GC) L [ΣE	R						LC)GGED: RI
≝1	: 50	D					-											CH	ECKED: AG

PROJECT: 2	21494078 N 5026297 0 ·E 361328 4	R	ECO	DR	D	OF				HC	DL	E: 21-07						5	SHEET 2 OF 2	
INCLINATION	N: -90° AZIMUTH:						DRI DRI	LL RIG	G: CI	ME 5 NTR	55 AC1	TOR: CCC Drilling						L	DATUM. Geodelic	
DEPTH SCALE METRES DRILLING RECORD	DESCRIPTION	SYMBOLIC LOG DEDL (m)	RUN No.	FLUSH COLOUR % RETURN	JN FL Sł VI C. REC TOTA CORE 889	N - Jo LT - Fa HR- Sh N - Ve J - Co COVEI	oint ault hear onjug RY DLID RE %	R.Q.D	BD-1 FO-1 OR-1 CL-1 FRA IND PE 0.25	Beddi Foliati Conta Ortho Cleav CT. EX EX Sm 28	ng on ct gona age IP w.r CORE AXIS	PL - Planar PO - Pc CU - Curved K - Siji UN - Undulating SM- Sr I ST - Stepped Ro - Rc IR - Irregular MB- M DISCONTINUITY DATA	olisheo ickens mooth ough echan	d sided ical B	BR NOT abbi of al reak sym ROCK STRENG INDEX 22 22 22	- Bro reviatio bbrevia bols.	addition ns refer tions & VEATH ERING INDEX	Rock to list	G.	
SETTING RELIES DEPTH SC DEPTH SC	DESCRIPTION DENCK SURFACE ghtly weathered to fresh, medium to cidy bedded, medium grey, fine ained, non to faintly porous, medium org DOLOSTONE, interbedded with ale, limestone and sandstone Broken core from 1.85 m to 1.86 m froken/lost core from 2.11 m to 2.29 m Broken core from 2.34 m to 2.37 m Broken core from 3.21 m to 2.25 m Broken core from 4.19 m to 4.2 m Broken core from 7.55 m to 5.56 m Broken/lost core from 9.43 m to 9.51 m Broken/lost core from 9.72 m to 9.73 m Broken core from 9.72 m Broken		Image:	100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100							901a102	S1 - Stepped Ro - MB- M IR - Iregular MB- M DISCONTINUITY DATA ITYPE AND SURFACE DESCRIPTION BD UN,SM SO BD,UN,SM SO BD,UN,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO <th>Joon</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>Bentonite Seal</th> <th></th>	Joon						Bentonite Seal	
4 21494078.GPJ 6AL-MISs.GDT 12/1 1.1 1.1 11 11 11	tte(s): Water level measured at a depth of 34 m (Elev. 56.73 m) on October 5, 21																			
ອັ ບິ ບິ ປີຍອກກາ SCAL ທີ່ 1 : 50	E						G	G C) L	. C)	ER		1			1	L C	LOGGED: RI HECKED: AG	

RECORD OF BOREHOLE: 21-08

LOCATION: N 5026385.1 ;E 361306.5

SAMPLER HAMMER, 64kg; DROP, 760mm

BORING DATE: September 28, 2021

SHEET 1 OF 3

DATUM: Geodetic

	Т	Q	SOIL PROFILE			SA	MPL	ES	DYNA		PENE	TRATI	ON	<u>\</u>	HYDF	RAULIC	CON	NDUCT	IVITY,			
CALE		ETHO		01				E.	RESIS	5TAN(20	0E, B 40	IOWS	60	80		k, cn 10 ⁻⁶	1/s 10⁻⁵	11)-4	0-3	ING	PIEZOMETER OR
TH S		M DY	DESCRIPTION	A PL(ELEV.	1 BER	Ŕ	S/0.3(SHEA	R STI	RENO	GTH	nat V.	+ Q- ●	v	VATER			PERCE	Í NT	DITIC . TES	
DEP		BORIN		TRAT	DEPTH (m)	NUN	Ę	LOW:	Cu, kF	°a			rem V.	⊕ U-O) v	/p		-O ^W		WI	AD	INGTALLATION
	+	ш	GROUND SURFACE	S.	64.04			е.	2	20	40)	60	80	-	20	40	6	0	во 	-	
F	0	П	ASPHALT	***	0.05										-							
E			FILL - (SW) gravelly SAND, angular; grey (PAVEMENT STRUCTURE);	1	0.16																	
F			FILL - (SP) SAND, fine to medium, trace /		64.1 <u>1</u> 0.53																	-
-			\silt; brown; non-cohesive, moist																			
-	1	(F	brown, contains organic matter (rootlets); non-cohesive moist loose to compact			1	SS	6														
F		ow Ste																				-
-	Aude	(Holld																				
F	Power	Diam			62.81	2	SS	23														
E	2	00 mm	(SM) gravelly SILTY SAND; grey to grey brown, trace organic matter, weathered		1.83																	_
E		2	of sand, fine to medium (GLACIAL TILL);																			
E			dense			3	22	56														
F						5	55	50														
Ē	3		Highly weathered BEDDOOK		61.59		a -	50/														-
F	\vdash	1	Borehole continued on RECORD OF		3.05	4	SS	6"														
E			DRILLHOLE 21-08																			
F																						
E	4																					-
E																						:
E																						
E																						
-	5																					
-																						:
-																						
-																						
_	6																					
F																						
E																						
E																						
Ē-	7																					-
Ē																						
-																						
_																						
_ F	8																					-
1 ZS																						
1 1																						
14																						
S.GL	9																					-
AL-M.																						
ດີ - ເບິ																						-
78.GF																						
4940	0																					-
1 21																						
HS 0С)EP	TH S	CALE					Ņ		~ .											10	OGGED: RI
8-SI 1	 : 50)	-				<			ינ	U	LI		: K							СН	ECKED: AG
2																						

PR	OJE	CT: 21494078		RE	СС	DR	D	OF	D	R	IL	LH	0	L	E: 21-08								SF	IEET 2 OF 3
		ON: N 5026385.1 ;E 361306.5						נ נ	DRII DRII	LLIN LL R	g d Ig:	ATE: CME	S 55	ept	ember 28, 2021								DA	TUM: Geodetic
	~	AZIVIOTE	_	1	1		161]		LLIN	GC		RA	СТ	OR: CCC Drilling	Dolia	nord		pp	- P	roken	Rock	, 1	
DEPTH SCALE METRES	LLING RECORE	DESCRIPTION	YMBOLIC LOG	ELEV. DEPTH (m)	RUN No.	SH COLOUR	FL SH VN CJ REC	T - Fa IR- Sh I - Ve I - Co COVEF	ult iear in onjuga RY	ate R.Q.I %	FI COC D. I	D- Foli O- Cor R- Orth L - Clea RACT. NDEX PER	ation ntact nogo avag	nal e w.r.t	CU- Curved K - S UN- Undulating SM- S ST - Stepped Ro - R IR - Irregular MB- M DISCONTINUITY DATA	Slicke Smoo Rougi Mech	enside enside th h anica	I Brea	NO abb of a ak sym ROCK RENG NDEX	TE: Fo reviati ibbrevi ibols.	WEAT INDE	in ock onal er to lis & TH- IG	st Q AVG	
	DRI		ŝ			FLU	CORE 1	% COF 27 888	1 848 € %	884	50 20).25 m 유원원없	6 8 8 1	kis 888	DESCRIPTION	Jo	on Jr	Ja 22 I	22 Z I	2	- 888	M4		
		Slightly weathered to fresh, medium to thickly bedded, medium grey, fine grained, non to faintly porous, medium strong DOLOSTONE, interbedded with shale, limestone and sandstone - Broken/lost core from 3.2 m to 3.79 m		61.44	1	100									BD.PL.SM BD.PL.SM JN.PL.SM SO JN.PL.SM IN,CL <1 mm JN,UN,SM SO	1								
- 5 - 6 -					2	100									HJN,PPL,H IN,CA <1 mi BD,UN,RO BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM	m						-		-
- - - - - - - - - - - - -		- Broken/lost core from 7.66 m to 7.73 m			3	100									BD,PL,SM DC,SI <1 mm BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM BD,CU,SM BD,CU,SM BD,CU,SM SO	n						-		-
- 8 - 8 	Rotary Drill HO3 Core	- Broken core from 9.06 m to 9.13 m		55.51		0									BD.PL.SM BD.PL.SM BD.PL.SM	ı						-		-
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -		Fresh, thinly to thickly bedded, light grey, fine to medium grained, non to faintly porous, medium strong SANDSTONE, with thin partings of shale		9.13	4	10									BD,PL,SM							-		
- - - - - - -		- Clay seam from 11.10 m to 11.11 m			5	100									BD,PL,SM IN,CL 10 mm BD,PL,SM IN,CL 10 mm	n						-		-
- 12 - 12 		- Broken core from 11.73 m to 11.75 m			6	100									BD,PL,SM BD,DL,SM BD,UN,SM SO BD,UN,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,UN,SM									-
- 13 - -				 	7	100	#	╞┨┾┤	Ħ	■ + +	╢	╞║┿╢	$\ $	4	 	. 🕇	\downarrow	-				-		-
DEI 1 : {	РТН 50	CONTINUED NEXT PAGE							∭ G	i C) 		D	E	ER								LC)GGED: RI ECKED: AG

PR LO INC	OJ CA	ECT TIO	Г: 21494078 N: N 5026385.1 ;E 361306.5 10N: -90° АΖІМИТН:		RE	CC	R	D	C	۶ ۲						OL Sej 55	LE: 21-0	8									SH	IEET 3 OF 3 ATUM: Geode	3 etic
DEPTH SCALE METRES		חעורבוואפ אבינסאם	DESCRIPTION	SYMBOLIC LOG	ELEV. DEPTH (m)	RUN No.	FLUSH COLOUR <u> « RETURN</u>	RI COR 809	JN FLT SHR VN CJ ECC FAL % %	- Joi - Fai - Shi - Co VER SO COF	nt ult ear in njug XY LID XE %	ate	20 20 20 20 20	BD- FO- CO- OR- CL - FRA PE 0.2 9	Bedo Folia Cont Orth Clea ACT. DEX ER 5 m \$200	ding tion act ogona vage	PL - Planar CU- Curved UN- Undulating al ST - Stepped IR - Irregular DISCONTINUIT rt. E S TYPE AND SURI BESCRIPTIO	F F F TY DA RFACE ON	PO- Po (- Slie SM- Sm Ro - Ro /IB- Me /IB- Me	lished ckensi nooth ugh echani	ided cal Br	eak s ROC TREN INDE	BR - bbrevi f abbr ymbol K IGTH X Z T	Brok For a iations reviations Is.	ken F addition s refer ons & EATH RING	Rock inal r to lis	c st Q AVG.		
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	Sotary Drill	HQ3 Core	CONTINUED FROM PREVIOUS PAGE Fresh, thinly to thickly bedded, light grey, fine to medium grained, non to faintly porous, medium strong SANDSTONE, with thin partings of shale - Lost core from 13.59 m to 13.60 m			7	100										BD.PL.SM SO BD.UN.SM SO BD.UN.SM SO)											
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -		Ť	End of Drillhole		<u>49.15</u> 15.49	8	100										BD,UN,RO												-
- 16 - 16 																													-
- 17 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -																													-
- - - - - - - - - - - - -																													-
- - - - - - - - - - -																													-
- 21 - 21 																													-
22																													-
DE 1:	: PT 50	нs	CALE	I	<u> </u>						G	; (ш С		_ [)	ER			1				11		11	LC	DGGED: RI ECKED: AG	

RECORD OF BOREHOLE: 21-09

BORING DATE: September 29, 2021

SHEET 1 OF 3

DATUM: Geodetic

LOCATION: N 5026279.3 ;E 361293.7 SAMPLER HAMMER, 64kg; DROP, 760mm

United Sol MONIF Sole MONIF Sole MONIF Product Celevitation Product Celevita		_																				
	Ш		3	SOIL PROFILE			SA	MPL	.ES	DYNA RESIS	MIC PE	NETRAT	ION S/0.3m	ì	HYDR	RAULIC (k. cm/	CONDUC	CTIVITY,		.0		
	SCAL				OT		~		Ū.	2	20	40	60	80 `		10 ⁻⁶	10 ⁻⁵	10 ⁻⁴	10 ⁻³	STIN	PIEZOMETER OR	
0 0 <td>NTH (</td> <td>2 2</td> <td>2</td> <td>DESCRIPTION</td> <td>JA A.</td> <td>ELEV.</td> <td>1BEF</td> <td>ĥ</td> <td>S/0.3</td> <td>SHEA</td> <td>R STRE</td> <td>NGTH</td> <td>nat V.</td> <td>+ Q- ●</td> <td>v</td> <td>VATER (</td> <td></td> <td>IT PERC</td> <td>ENT</td> <td>ΤĔΫ.</td> <td></td> <td></td>	NTH (2 2	2	DESCRIPTION	JA A.	ELEV.	1BEF	ĥ	S/0.3	SHEA	R STRE	NGTH	nat V.	+ Q- ●	v	VATER (IT PERC	ENT	ΤĔΫ.		
DEPTH SCALE Depth Scale Control Depth Scale Depth Sc	DEP				RAT.	DEPTH	NN N	∣≿	MO.	Cu, kP	a		rem V. 6	⊕ U-Ó	w	/p	— 0 ^V	/	WI	ADI		
		ă			ST	(11)			Б	2	20	40	60	80		20	40	60	80			
Part - Company Part	— 0	L	$ \dashv$			65.90															B1	51
	-			FILL - (SW) gravelly SAND, angular;		0.05 65.65															Flush Mount Casing	-
	-		Stem)	grey (PAVEMENT STRUCTURE)	'	0.25																<u> </u>
- - <td>-</td> <td>ger</td> <td>Nollo</td> <td>to some silt; brown; non-cohesive, moist</td> <td>***</td> <td>65.3<u>4</u> 0.56</td> <td></td> <td>- 1</td>	-	ger	Nollo	to some silt; brown; non-cohesive, moist	***	65.3 <u>4</u> 0.56																- 1
	-	er Auç	Ч. Н	FILL - (SM/ML) gravelly SILTY SAND to sandy SILT: brown to dark brown																		- 1
	- 1	Powe	Dian	contains weathered shale and organic			1	SS	5												Bentonite Seal	-
	-		0 mu	matter; non-conesive, moist, loose																		-
	_		2			64.38																
	_		Ц	Highly weathered BEDROCK	Ŵ	1.52	2	ss	50/ 5"													-
				Borehole continued on RECORD OF DRILLHOLE 21-09		1.00																-
	_ 2																					-
	_																					-
	_																					-
	_																					-
	_																					-
	- 3																					_
	-																					-
	_																					-
	-																					-
	-																					_
	- 4																					_
	-																					-
	-																					-
																						-
																						_
																						-
DEPTH SCALE 1:50 LOGED: RI CHECKED: AG	_																					-
DEPTH SCALE 1:50	_																					-
DEPTH SCALE 1:50	_																					-
DEPTH SCALE 1:50 DEPTH SCALE 1:50 LOGGED: RI OHECKED: AG	- 6																					_
DEPTH SCALE 1:50	-																					-
DEPTH SCALE 1:50 LOGGED: RI CHECKED: AG	-																					_
DEPTH SCALE 1:50 DEPTH SCALE LOGGED: RI CHECKED: AG	-																					-
DEPTH SCALE 1:50 LOGGED: RI CHECKED: AG	-																					-
DEPTH SCALE 1:50 LOGGED: RI CHECKED: AG	- 7																					_
BEPTH SCALE 1:50 LOGGED: RI CHECKED: AG	-																					-
a a b <td>-</td> <td></td> <td>-</td>	-																					-
8 9 10 1																						-
8 Image: second secon	E																					-
9 10 <t< td=""><td>- 8</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td></t<>	- 8																					-
DEPTH SCALE 1:50 LOGGED: RI CHECKED: AG																						-
9 10 <t< td=""><td>L</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td></td><td>-</td></t<>	L																			1		-
DEPTH SCALE 1:50 LOGGED: RI CHECKED: AG	F				1										1							-
DEPTH SCALE 1:50 LOGGED: RI CHECKED: AG	F				1										1							-
DEPTH SCALE 1:50 LOGGED: RI CHECKED: AG	- 9 -																			1		-
DEPTH SCALE 1:50 LOGGED: RI CHECKED: AG	F				1										1							-
DEPTH SCALE 1:50 LOGGED: RI CHECKED: AG	-				1										1							-
DEPTH SCALE 1:50 LOGGED: RI CHECKED: AG	-																					-
DEPTH SCALE LOGGED: RI 1:50 LOGGED: RI CHECKED: AG	F				1										1							-
DEPTH SCALE 1:50	- 10																					
DEPTH SCALE LOGGED: RI 1:50 CHECKED: AG																				1		
1:50 CHECKED: AG	DE	PTI	нs	CALE							GC)L	DF	R						L	OGGED: RI	
	1:	50						<	V											СН	ECKED: AG	

PR	OJEC	CT: 21494078		RE	СС	DR	D	OF	D	RI	LL	_H(DL	E: 21-09					:	SHEET 2 OF 3
LO		ON: N 5026279.3 ;E 361293.7						[DRIL DRIL	LINC	G DA G: (ATE: CME :	Sep 55	tember 29, 2021					I	DATUM: Geodetic
		TION90 AZIMUTH	-				IN]		LINC	G CO		ACT	OR: CCC Drilling	Polishod		BR	Broke	n Rock	1
SCALE RES	RECORE		IC LOG	ELEV.	No.	COLOUR % RETURN	FL SH VN CJ	T - Fa R-Sh - Ve J - Co	ult iear in injuga	ate	FO CO OR CL	 Foliat Conta Ortho Cleav 	ion ict gonal age	CU- Curved K - UN- Undulating SM- ST - Stepped Ro- IR - Irregular MB-	 Polished Slickens Smooth Rough Mechani 	ided cal Brea	NOTE abbrev of abb	 For add viations reviations reviations bls. 	litional efer to list s &	
DEPTH	SILLING	DESCRIPTION	SYMBOL	DEPTH (m)	RUN	HSL	REC TOTAL CORE		RY DLID RE %	R.Q.E %	D. IN	ACT. DEX PER	DIP w.r	DISCONTINUITY DATA	A	STF	ROCK RENGTH NDEX	WEA ERI IND	ATH- NG C DEX AV	 G.
	Ч	BEDROCK SURFACE	0,	64.25	-	E	884	88	998 11	884	22 29	2992		DESCRIPTION		21 Ja	8 22 F	W1 W2	W4	
- - - 2 -		Fresh, medium to thickly bedded, medium grey, fine grained, non to faintly porous, medium strong DOLOSTONE, interbedded with shale, limestone and sandstone		1.65	1	100								BD,UN,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO						-
		- Broken core from 1.65 m to 1.92 m - Broken core from 2.3 m to 2.41 m												BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO						
- 3 		- Broken core from 3.37 m to 3.4 m			2	100								BD,PLSM SO BD,PLSM SO BD,PLSM SO BD,PLSM SO BD,PLSM SO BD,PLSM BD,PLSM BD,PLSM BD,PLSM BD,PLSM BD,PLSM BD,PLSM SO						Bentonite Seal
- - - - - - - 5 -					3	100														-
- - -														BD,PL,SM SO						
- - - - - -	Drill ore				4	100								BD,PL,SM BD,CU,SM BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM SO JN,PL,SM SO						Silica Sand
- - - - - -	Rotary HQ3 C													BD,PL,SM SO JN,UN,RO SO — JN,PL,RO SO						
-					5	100								BD,UN,SM SO BD,PL,SM						
- 8 - 8 -		- Broken/lost core from 8.09 m to 8.17 m												BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM SO						52 mm Diam. PVC #10 Slot Screen
-														BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO						
- 9 					6	100								BD,PL,SM						
- - 10		- Broken/lost core from 9.86 m to 9.87 m			┝		$\left \right \right $				╢			BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM						-
		- Broken core from 10.18 m to 10.26 m												BD,PL,SM IN,CL 10 m BD,PL,SM IN,CL 10 m BD,PL,SM IN,CL 10 m BD,UN,SM IN,CL 20 n	nm nm mm					
- - - - - - 11		- Broken core from 10.73 m to 10.76 m		54.73	7	100								BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO BD,UN,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO						Silica Sand
-		riesn, unny to thickly bedded, light grey, fine to medium grained, non to faintly porous, medium strong SANDSTONE, with thin partings of shale		1 11.17	8	100		┤ ┃ ┿┨┿┥			╢			BD,UN,RO	_++		┩┽┝		 - + +-	Bentonite Seal
		CONTINUED NEXT PAGE																		
DE 1 :	PTH	SCALE							G	С		_ [ER					C	LOGGED: RI HECKED: AG

P Lu IN)jec atic lina ⁻	T: 21494078 DN: N 5026279.3 ;E 361293.7 TION: -90° AZIMUTH:		RE	СС	DR	D	0	DF DF DF	D זונו זונו		L G D, G : G C	LH ATE CME ONT	0 55 784	CT(E: 21-09 ember 29, 2021 DR: CCC Drilling	Э							:	SHEET 3 OF 3 DATUM: Geodetic	
DEPTH SCALE METRES		DRILLING RECORD	DESCRIPTION	SYMBOLIC LOG	ELEV. DEPTH (m)	RUN No.	FLUSH <u>COLOUR</u>	J F S V C RE TOT, CORE 8005	N - LT - iHR- 'N - ;J - :COV	Joint Fault Shea Vein Conju /ERY SOLIE CORE	ugati	e R.Q.D	BE CC OF CL FF	D-Bec D-Fol D-Cor R-Ort - Cle RACT NDEX PER .25 m	Iding Intact hogo avag DIP CO A	onal ge	PL - Planar CU - Curved UN - Undulating ST - Stepped IR - Irregular DISCONTINUITY TYPE AND SURFA DESCRIPTION	PO- K - SM- Ro- MB- Y DATA	Polish Slicke Smoo Rough Mecha	ed nsided th anical I	Break STRE	BR NOTE abbre of abl symb DCK ENGTI DEX	- Bro E: For a viation breviati ols.	ken F addition is refer ions & /EATH RING NDEX	Rock nal tolist H- G AV) G.	
- 12 - 12 - 12 	2		CONTINUED FROM PREVIOUS PAGE Fresh, thinly to thickly bedded, light grey, fine to medium grained, non to faintly porous, medium strong SANDSTONE, with thin partings of shale - Broken core from 11.67 m to 11.68 m - Lost core from 12.42 m to 12.43 m			8	100										BD, UN, SM BD, UN, SM BD, UN, RO BD, UN, SM										
- 13 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	3 4	Kotary Urill HQ3 Core	- Broken core from 13.84 m to 13.85 m			9	100										BD.UN,SM BD.PL,SM SO									Bentonite Seal	
- - - - - - - - - -	5		End of Drillholo		50.40	10	100																			_	-
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	6		Note(s): 1. Borehole was dry on October 5, 2021																								
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	8																										
GAL-MISS.GDI 12/16/21 2S	0																										
MIS-RCK 004 21494078.GFJ	DEF : 5	ידH S 0	SCALE								5	C				• E	ER								C	LOGGED: RI SHECKED: AG	-

RECORD OF BOREHOLE: 21-10

SHEET 1 OF 3 DATUM: Geodetic

LOCATION: N 5026360.8 ;E 361363.7

SAMPLER HAMMER, 64kg; DROP, 760mm

BORING DATE: September 29, 2021

	ДОН	SOIL PROFILE	1.	-	S	AMPI	LES	DYNAMIC PENE RESISTANCE, F	TRATIC	N N 0.3m		HYDRAUL k, o	IC CONDUC	CTIVITY,	-	J ^D Z	PIEZOMETER
METRES	30RING MET	DESCRIPTION	TRATA PLOT	ELE DEPT (m)	H. NUMBER	ТҮРЕ	LOWS/0.30m	20 40 SHEAR STREN Cu, kPa	D 6 GTH n re	0 80 atV. + C emV.⊕ U	• 2-● 1-0	10 ⁻⁶ WATE Wp ⊢		10 ⁻⁴ 10 IT PERCEI	NT KICK	LAB. TESTI	OR STANDPIPE INSTALLATION
		GROUND SURFACE	ن	65	39		8	20 40) 6	0 80		20	40	60 8	0		
0		ASPHALT FILL - (SM) gravelly SILTY SAND; brown; non-cohesive, moist		0.0	55												Flush Mount Casing
1		FILL - (SM) gravelly SILTY SAND; grey brown, trace organic matter; non-cohesive, moist, compact		65. 0.	15	ss	10										
2	Stom)	(SM) gravelly SILTY SAND; grey brown, contains cobbles and boulders (GLACIAL TILL); non cohesive, moist, dense to very dense		64.: 1.:	37 52 2	ss	46										
	Power Auger				3	ss	73										Bentonite Seal
3	~ UUC	11 AAY			4	RC	DD										
4																	
					5	RC	DD										
5		Borehole continued on RECORD OF DRILLHOLE 21-10		<u>61.</u> 4	09 6 .8	SS	>50										
6																	
7																	
8																	
9																	
10																	
	PTH	SCALE	1	_				GO		DEF	२					LC	DGGED: RI

PRO	JEC.	T: 21494078		RE	СС	R	D	0	F١	DI	RII	LL	.H	OL	_E: 21-10					SI	HEET 2 OF 3
		N: N 5026360.8 ;E 361363.7							DF DF	RILL	ING RIC	DA G: C	TE: ME	Se 55	ptember 29, 2021					D	ATUM: Geodetic
			1	<u> </u>		۳Z	11	N	DR Joint	RILL	ING	CO BD-	NTF	RAC	TOR: CCC Drilling PL - Planar PO- Pc	lished	BF	t - Bro	oken R	łock	[
DEPTH SCALE METRES	ILLING RECORI	DESCRIPTION	WBOLIC LOG	ELEV. DEPTH (m)	RUN No.	JSH COLOUF	FL SI C. RE TOTA	LT - HR- J - COV	Fault Shear Vein Conju /ERY SOLID	r Igate	.Q.D. %	FO- CO- OR- CL - FR/ INE PE	Folia Cont Orthe Clea ACT. DEX ER	tion act ogona vage DIP w COR	CU- Curved K - Sil UN- Undulating SM- Sr al ST - Stepped Ro - Rc IR - Irregular MB- Me DISCONTINUITY DATA TYPE AND SURFACE	ckensided nooth bugh echanical E	NO abb of a Break syn ROCK STRENG INDEX	TE: For reviation abbreviat bols.	addition ns refer tions & VEATH ERING INDEX	to list	
	DR	BEDROCK SURFACE	0	61.00		FL	884	8	8848	8	848	0.2 %	20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 2		B DESCRIPTION	Jcon Jr Ja	R3 R4	<u>ج</u> ۳	W2 W3	M4	
- 5 - 5 -		Fresh, medium to thickly bedded. medium grey, fine grained, non to faintly porous, medium strong DOLOSTONE, interbedded with shale, limestone and sandstone		4.80	1	100									BD,PL,SM BD,CU,SM SO BD,CU,SM SO BD,UN,SM BD,PL,SM SO BD,PL,SM SO						-
		- Broken/lost core from 4.8 m to 4.88 m - Broken core from 5.03 m to 5.05 m													BD,UN,SM CC,CA <1 mm HJN,PL,H IN,CA <1 mm BD,PL,SM						
- 6 					2	100									BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM HJN,PL,H IN BD,PL,SM Ca 3-5 mm BD,PL,SM BD,CLISM						
- 7		 Broken/lost core from 6.79 m to 7.02 m Broken core from 7.09 m to 7.16 m 													BD,PL,SM DC,CL <1 mm BD,PL,RO BD,PL,SM BD,PL,SM						
- 8					3	100									BD,PL,SM						Bentonite Seal
- - - - - - - - -		- Broken/lost core from 8.72 m to 8.88 m - Broken core from 8.93 m to 8.97 m			4	100									BD,PL,RO BD,PL,SM BD,UN,SM BD,PL,SM						∑
	HQ3 Core				5	100									BD, PL, SM BD, PL, SM						Silica Sand
- - - - - - - -					6	100									BD,PL,SM BD,CU,SM BD,CU,SM BD,CU,SM BD,UN,SM DC,SI <1 mm						
- - - - - - - -		- Broken/lost core from 12.92 m to 12.96 m Fresh, thinly to thickly bedded, light grey,		52.73 13.16											BD, UN, SM BD, UN, SM						
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -		fine to medium grained, non to faintly porous, medium strong SANDSTONE with thin partings of shale		· · · · ·	7	100									BD,PL,SM						52 mm Diam. PVC
				· · · ·	8	100									JN,PL,RO						
												<u> </u>				1				<u> </u>	
DEP 1 : 50	TH S D	GCALE				Ì			(j	0		. [)	ER					L(CH	ogged: Ri Ecked: Ag

PF	OJEC	T: 21494078 N: N 5026360.8 E 361363.7		RE	СС	DR	D	С)F	C				.H	0 s	L	E:	21	 -1()									SH	IEET 3 OF 3	
IN	CLINAT	TION: -90° AZIMUTH:								DRI DRI	LL I	RIG NG	: C CO	ME NTI	55 RA(СТС	OR: C	CC D	rilling										0,		
DEPTH SCALE METRES	DRILLING RECORD	DESCRIPTION	SYMBOLIC LOG	ELEV. DEPTH (m)	RUN No.	FLUSH COLOUR RETURN	RE TOT COR	JN LLT SHR /N CJ ECO IAL SHR CJ	- Joir - Fau - She - Vei - Cor VER SOL COR	nt Jit ar njug Y LID E %	ate R.C	0.D.	BD- FO- CO- OR- CL - FR4 INE 0.2	Bed Folia Orth Clea ACT. DEX 5 m 5 m 5 m	ding ation tact ogoi vago DIP CC A)	nal e w.r.t. DRE KIS	PL CU UN ST IR DI:	- Plana - Curve - Undul - Stepp - Irregu SCONT	IT Iating Ded Ilar INUITY ID SURF CRIPTION	PO- K - SM- Ro- MB- TDATA	Polisi Slicke Smoo Roug Mech	hed ensid oth hanica	ed al Bre	ROC IREN INDE	BR - bbrevia f abbre ymbol: K IGTH X Z Z	Brok For a ations eviations s. WI El	ken R ddition refer ons & EATH RING NDEX	ock al to list - (A\	Q VG.		
- - - 15 - - -	Rotary Drill HQ3 Core	CONTINUED FROM PREVIOUS PAGE Fresh, thinly to thickly bedded, light grey, fine to medium grained, non to faintly porous, medium strong SANDSTONE with thin partings of shale End of Drillhole		50.44	8	100											JN,	PL,RO												52 mm Diam. PVC #10 Slot Screen	
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -		Note(s): 1. Water level measured at a depth 8.85 m (Elev. 57.04 m) on October 5, 2021																													
- 17 																															
- - - - - - - - - - -																															
- 20 																															
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -																															
- 23 - 23 																															
- DE 1 :	PTH S	CALE								G	 (0		_ [E	 E R	l											LC	OGGED: RI ECKED: AG	-

APPENDIX B

Laboratory Test Results









- 1. Well formed cones on both ends
- 2. Well formed cones on one end, vertical cracks through cap
- 3. Columnar vertical craking through both ends
- 4. Diagonal fracture with no cracking through ends
- 5. Side fractures at top or bottom

Project:

6. Side fractures at both sides of top or bottom

21494078/3000

- Cores tested in vertical direction.
- Cores tested in air-dry condition.
- Time to failure > 2 and < 15 minutes.



Created by:	CW
Checked by:	JB

https://golderassociates.sharepoint.com/sites/35409g/Shared Documents/Active/2021/21494078/



GOLDER

MEMBER OF WSF

Project: 21494078/3000

Created by: CW Checked by: JB

APPENDIX C

Bedrock Core Photographs
































APPENDIX D

Results of Basic Chemical Analyses

Certificate of Analysis

Environment Testing

Client:	Golder Associates Ltd. (Ottawa)	Report Number:	1964465
	1931 Robertson Road	Date Submitted:	2021-10-12
	Ottawa, ON	Date Reported:	2021-10-15
	K2H 5B7	Project	21494078
Attention:	Ms. Ali Ghirian	COC #:	881198
PO#:			
Invoice to:	Golder Associates Ltd. (Ottawa)		

				Lab I.D. Sample Matrix Sample Type Sampling Date Sample I.D.	1588443 Soil 2021-09-30 21-06 sa2	1588444 Soil 2021-09-27 21-10 sa3
Group	Analyte	MRL	Units	Guideline		
Anions	Cl	0.002	%		0.007	<0.002
	SO4	0.01	%		<0.01	0.01
General Chemistry	Electrical Conductivity	0.05	mS/cm		0.24	0.15
-	рН	2.00			8.88	8.39
	Resistivity	1	ohm-cm		4350	6670

Guideline =

🛟 eurofins

* = Guideline Exceedence

Results relate only to the parameters tested on the samples submitted. Methods references and/or additional QA/QC information available on request.

APPENDIX E

Results of Geophysical Testing



TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM

EMAIL pgiamou@golder.com;

cphillips@golder.com

DATE October 27, 2021

TO Ali Ghirian Golder Associates Ltd.

FROM Peter Giamou, Christopher Phillips

VERTICAL SEISMIC PROFILING RESULTS 1047 RICHMOND ROAD, OTTAWA, ONTARIO

This memorandum presents the results of two Vertical Seismic Profiling (VSP) testing carried out in Borehole 21-08 at 1047 Richmond Road, Ottawa, Ontario. VSP testing was carried out on October 6, 2021. Borehole 21-08 was drilled to an approximate depth of 15 m below the existing ground surface and then cased with a 2.5 inch PVC pipe grouted in place. The borehole consisted of approximately 3.2 m of sandy silt over dolostone and sandstone bedrock to the bottom of the borehole.

Methodology

For the VSP method, seismic energy is generated at the ground surface by an active seismic source and recorded by a geophone located in a nearby borehole at a known depth. The active seismic source can be either compression or shear wave. The time required for the energy to travel from the source to the receiver (geophone) provides a measurement of the average compression or shear-wave seismic velocity of the medium between the source and the receiver. Data obtained from different geophone depths are used to calculate a detailed vertical seismic velocity profile of the subsurface in the immediate vicinity of the test borehole.

The high-resolution results of a VSP survey are often used for earthquake engineering site classification, as per the National Building Code of Canada (NBCC).

21494078



Example 1: Layout and resulting time traces from a VSP survey.

Field Work

The field work was carried out on October 6, 2021, by personnel from the Golder Mississauga office.

At Borehole 21-08, compression and shear-wave seismic energy were generated from a sledge-hammer located 2.00 m from the borehole. The seismic source for the shear-wave test consisted of a 2.4-metre-long, 150 millimetre by 150 millimetre wooden beam, weighted by a vehicle and horizontally struck with a 9.9 Kg sledgehammer on alternate ends of the beam to induce polarized shear waves. Test measurements started at ground surface and were recorded in the borehole with a 3-component receiver spaced at 1-metre intervals below the ground surface to the maximum depth of the casing (15 m).

The seismic records collected for each source location were stacked a minimum of three times to minimize the effects of ambient background seismic noise on the collected data. The data was sampled at 0.020833 millisecond intervals and a total time window of 0.341 seconds was collected for each seismic shot.

Data Processing

Processing of the VSP test results consisted of the following main steps:

- Compilation of seismic records to present seismic traces for all depth intervals on a single plot for each seismic 1) source and for each component;
- 2) Low Pass Filtering of data to remove spurious high-frequency noise;
- 3) First-break picking of the compression and shear-wave arrivals; and,
- 4) Calculation of the average compression and shear-wave velocity to each tested depth interval.



Processing of the VSP data was completed using the SeisImager/SW software package (Geometrics Inc.). The seismic records from Borehole 21-08 are presented on the following two plots and show the first-break picks of the compression wave (Figure 1) and shear wave arrivals (Figure 2) overlaid on the seismic waveform traces recorded at the different geophone depths. The arrivals were picked on the vertical component for the compression source and on the two horizontal components for the shear source.



Figure 1: First-break picking of compression wave arrivals (red) along the seismic traces recorded at each receiver depth of Borehole 21-08.





Chan_3_3.SG2

Figure 2: First-break picking of shear wave arrivals (red) along the seismic traces recorded at each receiver depth of Borehole 21-08.

Results

The VSP results at Borehole 21-08 are summarized in Table 1. The shear wave and compression wave layer velocities were calculated by best-fitting a theoretical travel time model to the field data. The depths presented on the table are relative to ground surface.

The estimated dynamic engineering moduli, based on the calculated wave velocities, are also presented in Table 1. The engineering moduli were calculated using an estimated bulk density, based on the borehole log. An estimated bulk density of 2000 kg/m³ was used for the overburden and an estimated bulk density of 2,600 kg/m³ was used for the limestone bedrock.

At Borehole 21-08 the average shear wave velocity from ground surface to a depth of 30 metres was measured to be 1,171 metres per second. The average velocity at Borehole BH 21-08 was calculated assuming that the velocity from 15 metres to a depth of 30 metres was constant with an average shear-wave velocity value of 2,800 m/s which is equal to the velocity at the bottom of the borehole.

Limitations

This technical memorandum, which specifically includes all tables, figures and attachments, is based on data and information collected by Golder Associates Ltd. and is based solely on the conditions of the properties at the time of the work, supplemented by historical information and data obtained by Golder Associates Ltd. as described in this memo.

Golder Associates Ltd. has relied in good faith on all information provided and does not accept responsibility for any deficiency, misstatements, or inaccuracies contained in the reports as a result of omissions, misinterpretation, or fraudulent acts of the persons contacted or errors or omissions in the reviewed documentation.

The services performed, as described in this memo, were conducted in a manner consistent with that level of care and skill normally exercised by other members of the engineering and science professions currently practicing under similar conditions, subject to the time limits and financial and physical constraints applicable to the services.

Any use which a third party makes of this memo, or any reliance on, or decisions to be made based on it, are the responsibilities of such third parties. Golder Associates Ltd. accepts no responsibility for damages, if any, suffered by any third party as a result of decisions made or actions based on this memo.

The findings and conclusions of this memo are valid only as of the date of this memo. If new information is discovered in future work, including excavations, borings, or other studies, Golder Associates Ltd. should be requested to re-evaluate the conclusions of this memo, and to provide amendments as required.

Closure

We trust that these results meet your current needs. If you have any questions or require clarification, please contact the undersigned at your convenience.

Golder Associates Ltd.

Peter Giamou, B.Sc., P. Geo Senior Geophysicst PG/CRP/jl

Christopher Phillips, M.Sc., P.Geo Senior Geophysicist

Attachments: Table 1 – VSP Modeller BH 21-08

https://golderassociates.sharepoint.com/sites/152441/project files/5 technical work/geotechnical_1047 richmond rd/vsp survey/report/21494078 tech memo vsp model bh21-08 27oct2021.docx



TABLES

TABLE 1- VSP MODELLER BH21-08



TABLE 1 **VSP VELOCITY PROFILE BOREHOLE 21-08**

Layer Depth (m)		Velocities (m/s)		Estimated	Dynamic Engineering Properties				
Тор	Bottom	Compressional Wave	Shear Wave	Bulk Density (kg/m ³)	Poissons Ratio	Shear Modulus (MPa)	Deformation Modulus (MPa)	Bulk Modulus (MPa)	
0.0	1.0	400	195	2000	0.34	76	204	219	
1.0	2.0	1200	280	2000	0.47	157	461	2671	
2.0	3.0	1600	440	2000	0.46	387	1130	4604	
3.0	4.0	1600	670	2600	0.39	1167	3253	5100	
4.0	5.0	1600	900	2600	0.27	2106	5343	3848	
5.0	6.0	1600	900	2600	0.27	2106	5343	3848	
6.0	7.0	1600	900	2600	0.27	2106	5343	3848	
7.0	8.0	1600	900	2600	0.27	2106	5343	3848	
8.0	9.0	2800	1600	2600	0.26	6656	16741	11509	
9.0	10.0	2800	1600	2600	0.26	6656	16741	11509	
10.0	11.0	2800	1600	2600	0.26	6656	16741	11509	
11.0	12.0	4800	2600	2600	0.29	17576	45430	36469	
12.0	13.0	4800	2600	2600	0.29	17576	45430	36469	
13.0	14.0	4800	2800	2600	0.24	20384	50638	32725	
14.0	15.0	4800	2800	2600	0.24	20384	50638	32725	



<u>Notes</u>

Depth presented is relative to the ground surface.
This table shall be analyzed in conjunction with the accompanying report.

APPENDIX F

Results of In-situ Hydraulic Conductivity Testing

Inflow to Excavation

Dupuit-Forchheimer Equation: $Q=\pi K((h_o^2-hp^2)/ln(R/r))$

1047 Richmond Road

	K (m/sec)	1E-06							R
	h₀ (m)	7.9	r - equivale	ent radius of pit					
	h _p (m)	1.0	R - radius	of influence					
	r (m)	52.8	SF - safety	factor					
	SF	2							
		SF * Q (m ³ /s)	R	Rad of Inf. from edge	m³/day	L/day			
Initial*		5.2E-03	57.8	5.0	450.11	450,108	$\uparrow \qquad \uparrow \qquad \uparrow$		
		2.7E-03	62.8	10.0	234.68	234,677		$\neg \backslash $	
		1.9E-03	67.8	15.0	162.75	162,751	n _o Δh		
		1.5E-03	72.8	20.0	126.69	126,687	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Steady-State**		1.2E-03	77.8	25.0	104.97	104,972			h_ 🗍
		1.0E-03	82.8	30.0	90.44	90,437	↓		
		9.3E-04	87.8	35.0	80.01	80,008			
		8.4E-04	92.8	40.0	72.15	72,148			Rottom of the aquifor
		7.6E-04	97.8	45.0	66.01	66,005			Bottom of the aquiter
		7.1E-04	102.8	50.0	61.06	61,065	Excavation Assum	ptions	
		6.2E-04	112.8	60.0	53.60	53,596	Width (m)	73	
		5.6E-04	122.8	70.0	48.20	48,202	Length (m)	120	
		5.1E-04	132.8	80.0	44.11	44,110	Fround surface elevation (masl)	65.50	
		4.7E-04	142.8	90.0	40.89	40,891	Groundwater elevation (masl)	62.89	0.5 m higher than measured at 21-4
		4.4E-04	152.8	100.0	38.29	38,286	Bottom of basement (masl)	56.5	assumed 3 basement levels totalling 9 m depth
		3.5E-04	202.8	150.0	30.23	30,232	Dewatered level (masl)	56.0	0.5 m below depth of excavation
							Base of aquifer (masl)	55.0	assumed 1 m below dewatered level

Sichart and Kyrieleis Equation: R=3000∆h(K^{1/2}) 23

Radius of Influence of Excavation (m)

Rainfall Amount - Based on a 79.2 mm precipitation event in 24 hours with a return of 10 years

Excavation Area (m ²)	8760
10 year Rainfall event (m)	0.0792
Max Vol Precipiation (L)	693,792

Notes

L - litres

m - metres

mbgs - metres below ground surface

Initial*: Potential worst-case inflow rate when trench is initially rapidly dewatered Steady-State**: Steady state inflow rate





62.9

56.0 55.0

Inflow to Excavation

Dupuit-Forchheimer Equation: $Q=\pi K((h_o^2-hp^2)/ln(R/r))$

1047 Richmond Road

K (m/sec)	1E-06				
h₀ (m)	7.4	r - equivalent radius of pit			
h _n (m)	1.0	R - radius of influence			
r (m)	52.8	SF - safety factor			
SF	2	-			
	SF * Q (m ³ /s)	R	Rad of Inf. from edge	m³/day	L/da
	3.8E-03	58.8	6.0	331.12	331,1
	2.2E-03	63.8	11.0	188.25	188,2
	1.6E-03	68.8	16.0	134.57	134,5
	1.2E-03	73.8	21.0	106.37	106,3
Steady-State**	1.1E-03	77.8	25.0	91.88	91,8
	9.2E-04	82.8	30.0	79.16	79,1
	8.1E-04	87.8	35.0	70.03	70,0
	7.3E-04	92.8	40.0	63.15	63,1
	6.7E-04	97.8	45.0	57.77	57,7
	6.2E-04	102.8	50.0	53.45	53,4
	5.4E-04	112.8	60.0	46.91	46,9
	4.9E-04	122.8	70.0	42.19	42,1
	4.5E-04	132.8	80.0	38.61	38,6
	4.1E-04	142.8	90.0	35.79	35,7
	3.9E-04	152.8	100.0	33.51	33,5
	3.1E-04	202.8	150.0	26.46	26,4



Inflow and Radius of Influence 350,000 300,000 250,000 Inflow (L/day) 200,000 150,000 100,000 50,000 0 20 40 60 80 100 180 0 120 140 160 Radius of Influence (m)

Notes

L - litres

m - metres

mbgs - metres below ground surface

Radius of Influence of Excavation (m)

Initial*: Potential worst-case inflow rate when trench is initially rapidly dewatered Steady-State**: Steady state inflow rate

Sichart and Kyrieleis Equation: R=3000∆h(K^{1/2})

21



200

INTERVAL (metres belo	w ground surface)
Top of Interval =	3.96
Bottom of Interval =	7.01

$$K = \frac{r_c^2}{2L_e} ln \left[\frac{L_e}{2R_e} + \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{L_e}{2R_e}\right)^2} \right] \left[\frac{ln \left(\frac{h_1}{h_2}\right)}{(t_2 - t_1)} \right]$$
 where K = (m/sec)

where:

 r_c = casing radius (metres) R_e = filter pack radius (metres)

 L_e = length of screened interval (metres)

t = time (seconds)

 h_t = head at time t (metres)





Project Name: Fengate/Phase 1, 2 and RSC/Ottawa Project No.: 21494078 Test Date: 2021-10-05 Analysis By: SPS Checked By: BH Analysis Date: 2021-10-06



$$K = \frac{r_c^2}{2L_e} ln \left[\frac{L_e}{2R_e} + \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{L_e}{2R_e}\right)^2} \right] \left[\frac{ln \left(\frac{h_1}{h_2}\right)}{(t_2 - t_1)} \right]$$
 where K = (m/sec)

where:

 r_c = casing radius (metres) R_e = filter pack radius (metres)

 L_e = length of screened interval (metres)

t = time (seconds)

 h_t = head at time t (metres)





Project Name: Fengate/Phase 1, 2 and RSC/Ottawa Project No.: 21494078 Test Date: 2021-10-05 Analysis By: SPS Checked By: BH Analysis Date: 2021-10-06



$$K = \frac{r_c^2}{2L_e} ln \left[\frac{L_e}{2R_e} + \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{L_e}{2R_e}\right)^2} \right] \left[\frac{ln \left(\frac{h_1}{h_2}\right)}{(t_2 - t_1)} \right]$$
 where K = (m/sec)

where:

 r_c = casing radius (metres) R_e = filter pack radius (metres)

 L_e = length of screened interval (metres)

t = time (seconds)

 h_t = head at time t (metres)





Project Name: Fengate/Phase 1, 2 and RSC/Ottawa Project No.: 21494078 Test Date: 2021-10-05 Analysis By: SPS Checked By: BH Analysis Date: 2021-10-06



$$K = \frac{r_c^2}{2L_e} ln \left[\frac{L_e}{2R_e} + \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{L_e}{2R_e}\right)^2} \right] \left[\frac{ln \left(\frac{h_1}{h_2}\right)}{(t_2 - t_1)} \right]$$
 where K = (m/sec)

where:

 r_c = casing radius (metres) R_e = filter pack radius (metres)

 L_e = length of screened interval (metres)

t = time (seconds)

 h_t = head at time t (metres)





Project Name: Fengate/Phase 1, 2 and RSC/Ottawa Project No.: 21494078 Test Date: 2021-10-05 Analysis By: SPS Checked By: BH Analysis Date: 2021-10-06

BOUWER AND RICE SLUG TEST ANALYSIS RISING HEAD TEST 21-6



where:

- r_c = casing radius (metres);
- R_e = effective radius (metres);
- L_e = length of screened interval (metres);

 r_w = radial distance to undisturbed aquifer (metres)

 y_0 = initial drawdown (metres)

 y_t = drawdown (metres) at time t (seconds)





Project Name: Fengate/Phase 1, 2 and RSC/Ottawa Project No.: 21494078 Test Date: 05-Oct-21 Analysis By: SPS Checked By: BH Analysis Date: 06-Oct-21



$$K = \frac{r_c^2}{2L_e} ln \left[\frac{L_e}{2R_e} + \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{L_e}{2R_e}\right)^2} \right] \left[\frac{ln \left(\frac{h_1}{h_2}\right)}{(t_2 - t_1)} \right]$$
 where K = (m/sec)

where:

 r_c = casing radius (metres)

 R_e = filter pack radius (metres)

 L_{e} = length of screened interval (metres)

t = time (seconds)

 h_t = head at time t (metres)





Project Name: Fengate Project No.: 21494078 Test Date: 2021-10-05 Analysis By: SPS Checked By: BH Analysis Date: 2021-10-06



golder.com